

Department of Orthodontics, Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Finland

Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Helsinki, and Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

# Changes in cranial base and craniocervical junction during growth in healthy individuals and in patients with osteogenesis imperfecta

Heidi Arponen

### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented and publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki for public examination in lecture room 1, Institute of Dentistry main building, on 15 June 2012, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2012

Supervised by:	Docent Janna Waltimo-Sirén DDS, PhD				
	Department of Orthodontics, Institute of Dentistry				
	University of Helsinki				
	Helsinki, Finland				
	Docent Outi Mäkitie MD, PhD Department of Paediatric Endocrinology				
	and Metabolic Bone Diseases				
	Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital				
	University of Helsinki				
	Helsinki, Finland				
Reviewed by:	Docent Tuomo Heikkinen DDS, PhD				
	Department of Orthodontics, Institute of Dentistry				
	University of Oulu				
	Oulu, Finland				
	Docent Jarmo Jääskeläinen MD, PhD				
	Department of Paediatrics, Institute of Clinical Medicine				
	University of Eastern Finland				
	Kuopio, Finland				
Official opponent:	Professor Nick Bishop MD, PhD				
	Department of Human Metabolism				
	University of Sheffield				
	Sheffield Children's Hospital				
	Sheffield, United Kingdom				
ISDN 079 052 10 7601 6	(non-arback)				
ISBN 078 052 10 7602 2	(PDE)				
ISDIN 9/0-932-10-/092-3 (PDF)					
Unigrafia Ualsinki 2012					
LICISIIIKI ZULZ					

To my beloved

# Abstract

Cranial base and craniocervical junction anatomy can be evaluated from MR and CT scans, and lateral skull radiographs. Cranial base anatomy changes during growth, as the form of the anatomic structures and their relative positions alter. In disorders of compromised bone quality, abnormal changes in the craniocervical junction can lead to pathological conditions with possibly life-threatening neurological complications. In this investigation these issues have first been addressed by making skull base measurements of healthy growing individuals to determine the age-specific normative values used to evaluate cranial base structures. These normative values were then employed in the following analysis of growing patients suffering from osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), a disorder of bone fragility due to abnormal collagen composition.

In healthy individuals' cranial base measurements, young children demonstrated significantly different results from those of older growing individuals and adults. Thus studies on patients younger than 9 years should include age-appropriate controls. Significant individual variation in skull base measurements during growth may appear, as revealed by longitudinal observation. The observed wide ranges, and the fact that the position of the odontoid process in relation to skull base structures may individually display alternating up- and downward movements, are important to consider when conducting follow-up examinations. Nevertheless, a notable deviation from the documented normal values is suggestive of pathological development in the craniocervical junction.

When comparing the age-specific normal values, skull base abnormalities were found to be present in approximately one fifth of OI patients; platybasia was the most frequent finding. Patients with haploinsufficiency mutations (which lead to a relatively mild phenotype) were less likely to have skull base abnormalities than patients with helical glycine substitutions. However, the strongest predictor of skull base abnormality was not the type of collagen mutation underlying OI but the clinical severity of the disorder, as expressed by the height Z-score. No evidence was found for a protective effect of bisphosphonate treatment, nor for the progression of craniocervical junction pathology with age.

Based on this normative data and the observations made in patients with OI, ageappropriate screening limits for skull base pathology are proposed here, in addition to a recommendation for timing of radiological screening in patients with OI.

# Contents

Abstract	4			
Contents	6			
List of original publications	8			
Abbreviations	9			
1. Introduction 1				
2. Review of the literature	12			
2.1. Bone metabolism and growth	12			
2.2. Neurocranium and craniocervical junction	15			
2.2.1. Anatomy	15			
2.2.2. Prenatal development	16			
2.2.3. Postnatal development	20			
2.3. Osteogenesis imperfecta	23			
2.3.1. Molecular basis	23			
2.3.2. Clinical features	26			
2.3.3. Treatment	31			
2.4. Basilar pathology	32			
2.4.1. Pathology of craniocervical junction	34			
2.4.2. Platybasia	36			
2.4.3. Basilar pathology in OI	37			
2.4.4. Basilar pathology in other disorders	39			
2.4.5. Treatment	41			
3. Aims of the study	42			
4. Materials and methods 43				
4.1. Diagnostic images	43			

	4.	1.1. Normal population cohorts	43		
	4.	1.2. OI patient cohorts	45		
	4.2.	Radiographic measurements	46		
	4.2	2.1. Intra- and interexaminer error	49		
	4.3.	Other measurements	49		
	4.4.	Statistical methods	49		
	4.5.	Ethical considerations	50		
5.	51				
	5.1.	Validation of methods	51		
5.2. Basilar structures in normal population					
	5.3.	54			
	5	3.1. Cross-sectional analysis	54		
	5.	3.2. Longitudinal analysis	56		
6.	Dise	cussion	63		
	6.1.	Reliability of observations	63		
	6.2.	Radiographic evaluation of cranial base dimensions	64		
	6.3.	Natural course of basilar pathology	65		
7.	7. Conclusions				
8.	3. Clinical recommendations and future considerations 72				
9.	P. Acknowledgements73				
10	). Re	eferences	75		
11	1. Original publications 95				

# List of original publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, referred to in the text by their roman numerals. This thesis also contains some unpublished data.

- I Arponen H, Elf H, Evälahti M, Waltimo-Sirén J 2008 Reliability of cranial base measurements on lateral skull radiographs. Orthod Craniofac Res 4:201-210.
- II Arponen H, Evälahti M, Waltimo-Sirén J 2010 Dimensions of the craniocervical junction in longitudinal analysis of normal growth. Child's Nervous System 26:763-769.
- III Cheung M, Arponen H, Roughley P, Azouz M, Glorieux FH, Waltimo-Sirén
  J, Rauch F 2011 Cranial Base Abnormalities in Osteogenesis Imperfecta:
  Phenotypic and Genotypic Determinants. J Bone Min Res 26:405-413.
- IV Arponen H, Mäkitie O, Haukka J, Ranta H, Ekholm M, Mäyränpää MK, Kaitila I, Waltimo-Sirén J 2012 Prevalence and natural course of craniocervical junction anomalies during growth in patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. J Bone Min Res 27: 1142–1149.

Original publications are reprinted with the permission of the publisher.

The final publication of study II is available at www.springerlink.com. Studies III and IV, are reproduced from J Bone Miner Res with permission of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research.

# Abbreviations

Ba	Cephalometric landmark basion at the midpoint on the anterior bony margin		
	of the foramen magnum of the occipital bone		
BMD	Bone mineral density		
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein		
BMP1	Gene coding for bone morphogenetic protein 1		
C1	First cervical vertebra also known as atlas		
C2	Second cervical vertebra also known as axis		
CRTAP	Cartilage associated protein		
COLIA1	Gene coding for alpha 1 chain of type I collagen		
COLIA2	Gene coding for alpha 2 chain of type I collagen		
СТ	Computed tomography		
D	Cephalometric landmark dens at the cranial tip of the odontoid process		
DXA	Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry		
ECM	Extracellular matrix		
LEPRE1	Leucine proline-enriched proteoglycan. Gene coding for leprecan or prolyl-		
	3 hydroxylase enzyme.		
LS aBMD	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density		
LS aBMD M	<ul><li>3 hydroxylase enzyme.</li><li>Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density</li><li>Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone</li></ul>		
LS aBMD M MRI	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging		
LS aBMD M MRI N	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the palatal bone		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the palatal bone Cyclophilin B. Gene coding for cyclosporine-binding protein.		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS <i>PPIB</i> S	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the palatal bone Cyclophilin B. Gene coding for cyclosporine-binding protein. Cephalometirc landmark sella turcica		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS <i>PPIB</i> S SD	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the palatal bone Cyclophilin B. Gene coding for cyclosporine-binding protein. Cephalometirc landmark sella turcica		
LS aBMD M MRI N OI Op PNS <i>PPIB</i> S SD TGF-β	3 hydroxylase enzyme. Lumbar spine areal bone mineral density Cephalometirc landmark M-point at the most caudal point of occipital bone Magnetic resonance imaging Cephalometric landmark nasion at the nasofrontal suture Osteogenesis imperfecta Cephalometirc landmark opisthion at the mid-point on the posterior bony margin of the foramen magnum Cephalometirc landmark posterior nasal spine at the most dorsal point of the palatal bone Cyclophilin B. Gene coding for cyclosporine-binding protein. Cephalometirc landmark sella turcica Standard deviation Transforming growth factor beta		

# 1. Introduction

Throughout life, bone mass is the net result of the processes of bone resorption and formation, which is regulated by genetic and environmental factors. Bone dysplasias, such as osteogenesis imperfeca (OI), disrupt the balance of bone remodelling.

OI is a heterogeneous group of connective tissue disorders characterized by bone fractures that arise from even low impact trauma. Progressive bone deformities develop frequently in severe OI types. OI is a disease of collagen I rich tissues; particularly bone, where disorganized matrix and reduced bone mass, result in the characteristic brittleness. The disorder is caused by a mutation in one of the two type I collagen genes; *COL1A1* or *COL1A2* in most patients with OI. Small numbers of patients, however, carry a mutation in genes involved in collagen protein assembly, leading to abnormal folding of type I collagen. (Marini *et al.* 2010)

A serious potential complication of OI is a deformity of the craniocervical junction. The craniocervical junction consists of the occiput, housing the foramen magnum, atlas and its axis, as well as ligaments and other associated structures. It forms a vital passage for the central nervous system. (Menezes 2008a) Craniocervical junction anomalies also affect a wider patient population; they are possible complications of several syndromes, such as Down or achondroplasia, or can arise from congenital malformations (Luyendijk *et al.* 1978, Menezes 2008e). The pathology of the craniocervical junction can be asymptomatic, or result in even life threatening symptoms caused by compression of the medulla, cerebellum, cervical nerve roots, lower cranial nerves or the vascular supply to these (Sawin and Menezes 1997, Smoker and Khanna 2008, Bishop 2010, Forlino *et al.* 2011).

Data on the normal dimensions of the craniocervical junction and the associated growthrelated changes in healthy children has been scarce, despite being a prerequisite for the accurate diagnosis and better understanding of the development of basilar anomalies. Similarly, the natural course of craniocervical junction anomalies, in growing patients with OI, has for the most part been unexplored despite the importance of early intervention before serious symptoms arise.

# 2. Review of the literature

#### 2.1. Bone metabolism and growth

The skeletal system, composed of cartilage and bone, aids locomotion, and supports body weight. The skeleton also protects the internal and sensory organs, the central nervous system, and the respiratory tract, whilst acting as storage for calcium and phosphate. The facial skeleton is embryologically derived from the cranial neural crest, whereas the rest of the skeleton, including cartilage, is derived from mesoderm (Leucht *et al.* 2008). Mature bone is actually specialised connective tissue composed of bone cells, proteins, and minerals. Histologically, mature bone can be divided into two types: 1. Cortical or compact bone that has a dense ordered structure and is mainly found in the diaphyses of long bones and the outer surfaces of flat bones. 2. Cancellous or trabecular bone, that is lighter, less compact, and has an irregular structure. Trabecular bone is less abundant and forms the metaphysis and epiphysis of long bones and the inner parts of flat bones. Trabecular bone is ideally suited to withstand compressive stress and hence is the predominant bone type in the vertebrae. (Datta *et al.* 2008)

Mature bone tissue hosts three types of cells: osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts. Stromal marrow cell derived osteoblasts function in bone formation by synthesizing and secreting collagenous and non-collagenous matrix proteins (Shi *et al.* 1996). Approximately 10-15% of osteoblasts are transformed into osteocytes. Multifunctional osteocytes are the most abundant cell type in bone. They are believed to transmit signals for bone remodelling via dendritic processes and by apoptosis in response to mechanical strain. Hematopoietic stem cell derived osteoclasts are involved in the resorption of bone tissue by secreting matrix metalloproteinases and cathepsins. (Aarden *et al.* 1994) Osteoblasts are located on the surfaces of bone tissue, while osteoclasts are found both within the calcified matrix and on calcified bone surfaces. (Datta *et al.* 2008)

The extracellular matrix (ECM) consists of organic components (collagen fibers embedded in ground substance) and inorganic components (mainly calcium and phosphate

in the form of hydroxyapatite). These minerals contribute approximately 60% of the weight of the bone. About 90% of the matrix proteins are collagen, making it the most abundant group of proteins in the body. Collagen gives structural support to bone, and is an essential component of cartilage, skin, ligaments, and cornea. (Viguet-Carrin *et al.* 2006, Datta *et al.* 2008) Types I through V are the most abundant collagen types in the body. Type I collagen is the predominant constituent of bone, and type II the main component of cartilage. The tensile properties of collagen fibrils serve to increase the elasticity of these tissues. The banded collagen fibrils in connective tissues mostly consist of more than one type of collagen molecule similar in structure. (Burgeson 1988, reviewed by Lodish *et al.* 2000) Changes in the composition of the organic matrix affect bone mineralization and thus the mechanical properties of bone. (Bala *et al.* 2011)

Type I collagen accounts for approximately 90-95% of the collagen content of bone (Huber 2007), whilst approximately 5% comprises type V collagen, and the remainder is bone-specific phospho- and glycoproteins (Niyibizi and Eyre 1989). Type I collagen is mainly produced by fibroblasts and osteoblasts, and is composed of two alpha-1 chains and one alpha-2 chain encoded by *COL1A1* and *COL1A2* genes, respectively (Figure 1). These three polypeptide chains begin to fold into a triple-helical rod at the carboxyl-terminal (C-terminal) end, with the folding proceeding towards the amino-terminal (N-terminal) end. (Engel and Prockop 1991) Posttranslational modification in the endoplasmic reticulum includes hydroxylation of prolyl and lysyl amino acids. (Marini *et al.* 2010) Intracellular stages are required to process and assemble the procollagen molecule, and extracellular stages to convert it into collagen and incorporate the mature collagen molecules into stable, cross-linked fibrils. The resulting mature collagen fibrils form by lateral interactions of the triple helices. (reviewed by Lodish *et al.* 2000)



Figure 1 Schematic illustration of a collagen trimer. Procollagen is composed of a twisted center and loose ends (C-terminal and N-terminal). Hydroxyproline aids crosslinking between the α chains and is therefore essential for stability of the collagen molecule.

In order for the strength of the bone to be maintained, the process of bone turnover must be carefully regulated. Bone metabolism relies on complex Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin and TGF- $\beta$ /BMP mediated signaling pathways to achieve proper rates of growth and differentiation. These pathways modulate the key transcription factor Runx2 that is essential for osteoblast differentiation and embryonic bone formation. Signaling pathways include the action of several hormones, including parathyroid hormone, vitamin D, growth hormone, steroids, calcitonin, and insulin-like growth factor, as well as several other cytokines. (Canalis *et al.* 1988, Datta *et al.* 2008)

Bone undergoes constant remodeling as a response to functional demands transmitted via muscle attachments to reshape or replace bone during growth and following injury. Bone is a self-renewing tissue (Seeman and Delmas 2006). This inherent regenerative capacity is attributed to skeletal progenitor cells, located for example in the periosteum. Proliferating progenitor cells can differentiate into either chondrocytes or osteoblasts, which deposit new mineralized matrix. Matrix is continuously resorbed by osteoclasts, which in turn stimulates new osteoblastogenesis. (Leucht *et al.* 2008) During childhood, bone turnover is high and bone formation slightly exceeds resorption. In a healthy adult, the bone turnover rate is about 10% of the skeleton per year (Leucht *et al.* 2008). Peak bone mass is reached in the twenties, after which bone formation rate decelerates. The combined effect of rate of bone turnover, quality of the collagen-rich ECM, size, structure, geometry, and mineral density determines the overall mechanical properties of the skeletal

system (Seeman and Delmas 2006). These determinants are affected by diaseases such as osteoporosis, Paget's disease, osteopetrosis, and osteogenesis imperfecta.

## 2.2. Neurocranium and craniocervical junction

#### 2.2.1. Anatomy

The cranial base, which is formed by the ethmoid, sphenoid, occipital, paired frontal, and paired parietal bones, can be divided into anterior, middle, and posterior cranial fossae. The cranial base houses a complex of foramina that form vital passages for neurovascular structures. The largest of these is foramen magnum in the occipital bone. The craniocervical junction is defined as the region comprising the occiput, atlas and its axis, as well as ligaments and other associated structures. The sagittal diameter of the foramen magnum is normally  $35\pm4$ mm, and the transverse diameter is slightly less. (Menezes 2008a). Sagittal diameter less than 25mm has been suggested to be pathological (Hinck *et al.* 1961).

The joint connecting the neurocranium and spine is comprised of the first cervical vertebra, atlas (C1), and its axis (C2). They are specialized to allow a wide range of head movement in flexion, extension, lateral bending, and lateral rotation. The ring-like atlas consists of an anterior and a posterior arch and two lateral masses encircling the vertebral foramen. The axis, in contrast, incorporates a large corticocancellous bony protuberance called the odontoid process or dens, which has a narrowed waist and thickened cortical tip. The joint surfaces of the skull base, atlas, and second cervical vertebra have little inherent stability. Thus, the stability of this region is mainly determined by ligamentous structures. (reviewed by VonTorklus and Gehle 1972, Menezes 1998)

The alar ligaments connect the medial surface of the occipital condyles to the lateral tip of the odontoid process. The apical ligament connects the caudal end of clivus to the superior tip of the odontoid (Figure 2). Tectorial membrane is a continuation of the posterior longitudinal ligament and is composed of a deep and a superficial layer. Between the

apical ligament and the deep layer of the tectorial membrane is the cruciate ligament bridging the clivus and the axis body, and a narrow transverse ligament, which extends between the upper ends of the lateral masses of the atlas. The transverse atlantal ligament and accessory atlantoaxial ligament are additional supportive structures. Posteriorly, the upper cervical spine has less ligamentous support; only the atlantoaxial and atlanto-occipital membranes. (Tassanawipas *et al.* 2005, Tubbs *et al.* 2011)



Figure 2 Schematic illustration of the main ligaments of craniocervical junction connecting the clivus on the occipital bone to C1 and C2. Modified from Netter, Frank. Atlas of Human Anatomy 1989 Novartis, USA.

#### 2.2.2. Prenatal development

During human embryogenesis, 42 somites are formed by the end of the fourth week of gestation. Each somite differentiates into dermatome, sclerotome, and myotome. Of these, the sclerotomes go on to form the vertebral bodies, each of which receives contributions from two adjacent somites; whereas neural arch is derived from a single somite. The fourth occipital sclerotome, termed proatlas, divides to ultimately form the anterior

tubercle of the clivus, the anterior margin of foramen magnum, the occipital condyle, the lateral atlantal masses, the superior portion of the posterior arch of atlas, the apical tip of odontoid process, as well as the apical, cruciate, and alar ligaments. The most inferior part of the axis arises from the second cervical sclerotome (Figure 3). (Matsuoka *et al.* 2005, Menezes 2005, Pang and Thompson 2011)

Skull bones have two separate origins. Those of the face arise from the neural crest and are thus of ectomesenchymal origin, whereas those of the cranial vault and base arise from the paraxial mesoderm of the somitomeres and the first five somites (Cobourne 2000). Several studies and transgenic-mouse models demonstrate the role of gene families that act as regulators of gene transcription in determining the embryonic plan of the developing craniofacial complex. The Pax family of regulatory genes is involved in somatic differentiation and sclerotomal resegmentation (Pang and Thompson 2011). Combinatorial expression of the homeobox-containing Hox genes has also been shown to be important in patterning and positional identity of distinct regions of the cranium and cervical vertebrae (Cobourne 2000).

Sella turcica, the midpoint of which has been used as a reference point in our study, refers to the bony nest of the pituitary gland. The pituitary gland begins its development in the third gestational week and is a compound structure. The posterior lobe forms from a diverticulum of the diencephalic floor called the infundibulum, whereas the anterior lobe forms from an evagination of the ectodermal roof of the stomodeum called Rathke's pouch (Schoenwolf *et al.* 2009).



**Figure 3** Schematic illustration of the embryology of the craniocervical junction. The basiocciput, tip of the odontoid, and ligaments attached to it, develop from the fourth occipital sclerotome. The odontoid process is formed from the caudal part of the fourth occipital and the cranial part of the first cervical sclerotomes. The most inferior portion of the axis body is derived from the caudal part of the first cervical and the cranial part of the second spinal sclerotomes.

Embryonic cartilage formation begins by the seventh week of gestation. The cranial base, that comprises a major part of the fetal chondrocranium, develops from three pairs of cartilaginous precursors: the prechordal, hypophyseal, and parachordal cartilages. These cartilages also contribute to protection of the brain and sensory organs together with cartilaginous capsules that develop around the otic and nasal pits. The caudalmost paired parachordal cartilages are derived from the occipital sclerotomes and the first cervical sclerotome. Thus they are modified vertebral elements. The parachordal cartilages form the base of the occipital bone. The hypophyseal cartilages fuse to form the body of the sphenoid bone. The prechordal cartilage gives rise to the ethmoid bone, which together with the nasal and turbinate bones encapsulates the nasal cavity. (Bosma 1975, Schoenwolf *et al.* 2009)

Bone formation takes place by two major mechanisms: endochondral and intramembranous ossification. During endochondral ossification mesodermally-derived osteochondral progenitors differentiate into chondrocytes to form a cartilage framework for the future bone (reviewed by Gilbert 2010). Ossification of the endochondrally formed cranial base begins during the second and third fetal months. Autonomously developing cranial base forms a platform for the growth of the rest of the cranium. Within the cranial base, synchondroses remain cartilaginous joints between the different ossification areas. Synchondroses are important growth centers that resemble histologically epiphyseal growth plates of long bones, but are bipolar in structure. (Björk 1955, reviewed by Bosma 1975) Long bones and vertebrae also develop via endochondral ossification (Mackie *et al.* 2011).

Facial bones and most of the cranial vault develop from neural crest-derived ectomesenchymal tissue through intramembranous ossification. During this process, osteochondral progenitors differentiate directly into osteoblasts to form membranous bone (reviewed by Gilbert 2010). Intramembranously formed flat bones grow to meet each other, and are then joined by sutures where appositional growth continues. Sutures are sites of growth (reviewed by Bosma 1975). Sutural growth in the cranial vault accompanies the enlargement of the brain, and similarly, growth of the respiratory tract, eye bulb, neck, and facial musculature are thought to contribute to the amount of growth in the number of sutures between facial bones. In addition to growth in sutures and synchondroses, the neurocranium also grows by surface apposition and resorption in response to forces from the enlarging brain. This occurs similarly in the face; the nasal cavity, for instance, vertically enlarges through lowering of the palate by resorption on the nasal surface along with apposition on the oral surface. Patency of the calvarial sutures provides malleability of the head during delivery. (Björk 1955, Shapiro and Robinson 1976, Moss 1997, Rice *et al.* 2003)

#### 2.2.3. Postnatal development

The neurocranium is incomplete at birth. Similarly, the craniocervical junction of children is immature and differs from that of adults, both biomechanically and physiologically. Growth takes place sequentially, where the anterior fossa completes its growth first, followed by the posterior and middle fossae. Growth of the cranial base and face follow closely that of the calvaria. The calvaria, the cranial base, and the facial complex display an interrelationship, where forces from one complex influence the others. (Goodrich 2005)

Postnatal growth is regulated by genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors (Bosma 1975, Enlow and Azuma 1975, Moss 1997). Environmental regulation is well displayed, for example in individuals with upper airway obstruction leading to altered craniocervical posture, which in turn affects the morphology of the first cervical vertebra. Growth changes include a smaller than average vertical dimension of the atlas dorsal arch. (Kylämarkkula and Huggare 1985, Solow 1992) Pathological conditions, such as craniosynostosis and hydrocephalus, leading to increased intracranial pressure, may in turn secondarily affect the cranial base morphology (reviewed by Bosma 1975, Perlyn *et al.* 2001, Goodrich 2005). The severity of the dysmorphology depends on the timing of the development of the pathology. Growing patients with untreated hydrocephalus exhibit a more obtuse anterior cranial base angle than healthy or treated children (Huggare *et al.* 1989).

The cranial base anterior to sella stabilises by 7 years of age through ossification of the spheno-ethmoidal and inter-sphenoidal synchondroses (Figure 4) (Björk 1955). Among cranial base synchondroses, the spheno-occipital synchondrosis is the most important site for sagittal and vertical growth. The spheno-occipital synchondrosis ossifies by 17 years of age until which time the clivus grows in length (Shirley and Jantz 2011). Simultaneously occipital bone drifts downwards and backwards as the brain is displaced by its growth resulting in a virtually parallel lowering of the foramen magnum in relation to the anterior cranial fossa. (Björk 1955)

During normal development, the anterior cranial base angle is obtuse at birth and decreases during the first five years, after which it remains fairly stable (Kerr and Hirst

1987). Most of the observed decrease in the anterior cranial base angle has been suggested to occur during the first two years after birth (George 2005).



**Figure 4** Synchondroses of the anterior cranial base. 1.Spheno-ethmoidale 2.Inter-sphenoidale 3.Spheno-occipitale. The anterior cranial base angle is displayed with dashed lines.

In early infancy the development of atlas proceeds from pre- and postnatally formed ossification centres that expand towards each other to form ventrally neurocentral synchondroses. Atlas should be a complete ring by 3 years of age as a result of fusion of the lateral atlantal masses. (Wang *et al.* 2001, Menezes 2008b)

At birth, the odontoid process is still separated from the body of the axis by a cartilagenous band, termed dentocentral synchondrosis (Figure 5). This synchondrosis lies below the superior level of the vertebral body (corpus of the axis C2) and is not visible on radiographs. The dentocentral synchondrosis gradually closes between 3 and 8 years of age. It contributes to the overall longitudinal growth of the odontoid process and vertebral body. Growth in height of the odontoid process also occurs inferiorly at the end plate physis and at the tip of the odontoid. (reviewed by VonTorklus and Gehle 1972, Menezes 1998, Piatt and Grissom 2011) The odontoid process is mineralized enough to be observed on lateral skull radiographs at birth, whereas the tip, called ossiculum terminale, is visible only after around 3 years of age when its ossification has proceeded. The tip of the dens fuses with the remainder of the odontoid process by 12 years of age. (Ogden 1984,

reviewed by Lovell *et al.* 2006) In healthy children, observed from the age of three months until 15 years, the growth rate of odontoid height has been found to be fastest during the first five years after birth, and become linear thereafter (Wang *et al.* 2001). The height of the odontoid process has been proposed to range from 14.4 mm to 21.3 mm in adults. In adult females, the height is on average 4.5 mm less than in adult males. (Schaffler *et al.* 1992, Çokluk C *et al.* 2006)



Figure 5 Development of the cervical vertebrae. The paired neurocentral synchondroses (A) unite the neural arch to the anterior arch (body) of the atlas. Neural arches fuse posteriorly by 3 years of age, and neurocentral synchondroses by 8 years of age, at which time the vertebral canal has reached its adult size (Piatt and Grissom 2011). The odontoid process develops from two primary ossification centers that fuse by 3 months of age; the C2 corpus appears by the fifth fetal month and is separated from the dens by the dentocentral synchondrosis (B). Centrum has superior and inferior epiphyses and subsequent ossification centres. The dentocentral synchondrosis fuses at 3–8 years. The ossiculum terminale (C) at the tip of the dens appears after 3 years of age and coalesces with the odontoid process by 12 years of age. The inferior epiphyseal ring appears at puberty and fuses at about 25 years of age.

Growth after birth involves rate variations at different ages in addition to changes in body proportion. The head makes up 25% of the standing height in infancy but only 13% at skeletal maturity. The height of the vertebral column will nearly triple from birth to adulthood. The measurement of sitting height provides an indirect reflection of spinal growth. During the first 5 years of life, sitting height and subischial length (i.e. the growth of the lower limbs) display similar growth velocity. From the age of 5 years to puberty,

sitting height accounts for one third of the gain, whereas subischial length accounts for two thirds. From puberty to maturity, the ratio is reversed. In an adult, the vertebral column makes up 60% of the sitting height, whereas the head represents 20% and the pelvis 20%. Strong correlation exists between armspan and standing height. (Dimeglio 2001)

Post-adolescent growth in the vertebral column progresses slowly, similar to most areas in the head and face. Vertebral bodies continue to grow between the ages of 20 and 30 years by apposition of bone to both ends. During this time, the total vertebral body height increases by 3-5 mm on average. After the age of 50 years, the vertebral height starts to decline. (reviewed by Harrison *et al.* 1977) On the other hand, intervertebral discs have been found to increase in height until 10 years of age and remain constant thereafter. (Stokes and Windisch L 2006).

#### 2.3. Osteogenesis imperfecta

Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), also known as brittle bone disease, is a heterogeneous group of inherited connective tissue disorders. The term OI was established in 1895 (Buday 1895), prior to which various names of the condition were used. Some of the most common alternatives were Ekman-Lobstein syndrome, Vrolik syndrome, and the "glass-bone disease". The earliest known studies on OI date back to 1788, performed by the Swede Olof Jakob Ekman. He described the condition in his doctoral thesis delineating a family in which persons in three generations had a condition that he termed "osteomalacia congenita". (King and Bobechko 1971)

#### 2.3.1. Molecular basis

The etiology and genetic basis of OI remains partly unknown today. OI is caused by abnormal formation of type I collagen; either as a quantitative or a structural defect. Deposition of new osteoid by single osteoblasts is reduced in OI. Subsequent increase in cell number is not sufficient to compensate for the deficiency, resulting in low bone mass (Rauch *et al.* 2000). In addition to defects in collagen production, mutations causing OI also affect the overall composition and organization of bone matrix (Forlino *et al.* 2011). Altered noncollagenous protein content in matrix is believed to disrupt the mineralization dynamics leading to matrix hypermineralization. Hypermineralized bone is a common feature of quantitative and qualitative collagen defects, as well as of *CRTAP* defects in humans and mice. Thus, in addition to passive deposition of minerals, an active process is believed to take place, where matrix abnormality leads to a differentiation defect of osteoblasts or osteocytes that alters expression of noncollagenous proteins involved in the control of mineralization. (Cabral *et al.* 2011, Forlino *et al.* 2011)

The phenotypic severity of OI depends on which amino acid chain in a collagen molecule is affected. A defect in  $\alpha 1(I)$  chain tends to result in a more severe clinical outcome than  $\alpha 2(I)$  defects, resulting in two helix compositions. Complete absence of the  $\alpha 1(I)$  chain leads to a lethal phenotype (Forlino et al. 2011). Missense mutation of glycine in the triple-helical region of type I collagen generally leads to OI. Phenotypic severity is affected by the position of the glycine substitution in the helix and which amino acid the glycine is substituted to. (Roughley et al. 2003, Forlino et al. 2011) The general tendency is towards a more severe clinical outcome when the glycine substitution occurs in the  $\alpha$ 1(I) chain towards the carboxyl-terminal end of the molecule, as compared to milder phenotypes occurring by a similar mutation towards the amino-terminal end (phenotype gradient model) (Roughley et al. 2003). Bodian et al. (2008) have presented a more detailed model for lethality prediction. Approximately 80% of glycine substitutions in  $\alpha 2(1)$  and the majority of splice sites are non-lethal. To date, more than 1000 independent mutations causing OI are recognized, of which a majority are a glycine substitution in the triple helical region (Dalgleish 1997 and 1998; www.le.ac.uk/genetics/collagen/index.html, visited on March XV, 2012).

The majority of patients with OI have an autosomal dominant form caused by primary defects in type I collagen, which in addition to affecting ECM structure and mineralization, cause intracellular stress, disrupt interactions between collagen and non-collagenous proteins, and cause abnormal cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions. (Forlino *et al.* 2011) Type I OI is caused by frameshift or point mutations in most cases, or rarely by a

splice site mutation, creating a premature termination codon in *COL1A1* transcript. This produces unstable transcription products that are destroyed by nonsense-mediated decay, leading to reduced formation of  $\alpha$ 1 chain and haploinsufficiency of type I collagen (Willing *et al.* 1996, Bishop 2010). In types II to IV OI, 80% of cases are due to a glycine substitution and 20% are due to a splice site in either *COL1A1* or *COL1A2* genes (located on chromosome 17 and 7 respectively) leading to structural alteration of type I procollagen (Table 1). Substituting residues may disrupt non-covalent bonds causing local unwinding of the triple helix and excess post-translational modification of the collagen helical region. Mixture of normal and mutant  $\alpha$ -chains results in matrix heterogeneity and contributes to phenotypic severity. (Roughley *et al.* 2003, Forlino *et al.* 2011)

Autosomal recessive forms collectively account for approximately 5% of the OI cases detected in Europe and North America (Venturi et al. 2012). They are usually caused by a null mutation leading to deficiency of proteins involved in collagen posttranslational modification, folding, or secretion. A mutation affecting the enzyme complex responsible for posttranslational hydroxylation of the position 3-proline residue of COLIA1 is often present. Such genes are CRTAP (cartilage-associated protein), LEPRE1 [leucine prolineenriched proteoglycan, also called leprecan or prolyl-3-hydroxylase-1 (P3H1)], and PPIB (cyclophilin B). (Marini et al. 2010, Forlino et al. 2011) Gene products of these three form a complex that modifies proline into hydroxyproline, a process that appears to be critical for the normal folding and assembly of collagen (Barnes et al. 2006, Baldridge et al. 2008). Recessive OI can also be caused by a defect in collagen chaperone genes such as SERPINH1, FKBP10, and OSX/SP7, that are essential for correct helical structure. (Van Dijk et al. 2009, Christiansen et al. 2010, Lapunzina et al. 2010, Kelley et al. 2011) Mutation in SERPINF1, encoding pigment epithelium-derived factor, leads to a mineralization defect with a distinctive histology (Homan et al. 2011). Mutation in BMP1 has also been linked with autosomal recessive OI (Asharani et al. 2012, Martínez-Glez et al. 2012).

Patients with dominant types of OI, and recessive types VII and VIII, have high bone turnover with elevated osteoblast and osteoclast activity. Their observed bone tissue abnormalities include lower bone mass than in age-matched controls, lower cortical bone

thickness, and osteopenia (Jepsen *et al.* 1997, Kocher and Shapiro 1998, Boyde *et al.* 1999, Edouard *et al.* 2011, Forlino *et al.* 2011). In children, OI can cause clinical osteoporosis that differs from idiopathic juvenile osteoporosis by its hereditary nature. No deficiency in serum calcium and vitamin D metabolite levels is present in OI as in osteomalacia. (Kocher and Shapiro 1998, Gloriex 2008, Edouard *et al.* 2011) The observed fragility of bones in OI, is caused by high stiffness combined with low bone mass.

#### 2.3.2. Clinical features

A population incidence of 1:5000-1:10 000 inhabitants has been reported worldwide for OI (Stoll *et al.* 1989, Andersen and Hauge 1989, Byers *et al.* 1991, Glorieux 2008). Reports on rare recessive mutations are often of specific populations or isolated families, which thus display a high local disease frequency (Barnes *et al.* 2006, Baldridge *et al.* 2008). Official calculations on the number of OI patients have not been conducted in Finland. The Finnish Skeletal Dysplasia Registry at Helsinki University Central Hospital, maintained on a research basis, includes more than 300 known OI cases. The Finnish disease heritage includes a variety of rare hereditary diseases that are overrepresented in Finland (Norio 2003). Greater incidence than average of recessive OI types has not been documented in Finland, however.

Even though genetic testing has become more common in recent years, diagnosis of OI is still most often based on typical clinical and radiological findings. Medical and family histories are cornerstones in arriving at the correct diagnosis. Distinguishing OI from non-accidental injury, such as child abuse, can be complex in some cases. (Paterson *et al.* 1993)

A Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) assessment of bone mineral density (BMD) may help to establish diagnosis of OI, which usually associates with low BMD. Typical radiological findings include vertebral fractures, long bone fractures and bowing, generalized decrease in density and thinning of bones, coarsening of the trabecular pattern, excessive intersutural Wormian bones, and certain characteristic features associated with

the recessive OI types. (Cremin *et al.* 1982, Hayes *et al.* 1999, Glass *et al.* 2004) Diagnostic methods can also include molecular analysis of type I collagen on cultured fibroblasts from a skin biopsy, or genomic sequence studies on DNA obtained from blood or saliva specimens, for example.

#### 2.3.2.1. General symptoms

OI is associated with bone fragility, bone pain, short stature, and joint hypermobility (Glorieux 2008, Basel and Steiner 2009). Joint hypermobility in OI is believed to be related to the collagen defect. This view is supported by the overlap in symptoms between OI and other connective tissue disorders, such as Marfan and Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (Grahame 1999). Lax joints tend to be less stable, to sublux or dislocate, and are generally more susceptible to trauma.

Truncal height is reduced more in the severe forms of the disorder than in the mild forms, and the same pattern applies for the ratio between armspan and height; an increase is seen in children with severe disorder types (Lund et al. 1999). The cause of the short stature seen in OI is unclear. Collagen type II predominates in the growth plate cartilage of long bones, and thus linear growth could be expected to be normal in patients with OI. Nevertheless, morphological changes in the growth plate have been observed in OI (Sanguinetti et al. 1990). Compression fractures contribute to the reduced vertebral height, but the main cause of short stature is likely to be associated with the function of osteoblasts. Unresponsiveness of osteoblasts to normal growth factors or defective osteoblast/bone matrix feedback on the growth hormone and somatomedin axis have been suggested in the dominant OI types (Marini et al. 1993). The greater impact on growth of qualitative collagen defect than of quantitative defect could reflect their different consequences on the osteoblast differentiation (Shi et al. 1996, Lund et al. 1999). In the severe forms of OI height is already reduced at birth. Platyspondyly is a common finding in older patients, corresponding to the reduction of truncal height. Whether platyspondyly is caused by biomechanical (reduced bone mineral content), or by biosynthetic abnormalities (reduced growth potential of the spine), is yet to be determined. (Lund et al.

1999) The recessive types, with extreme short stature, are caused by deficiency of proteins that notably function in both cartilage and bone (Marini *et al.* 2010).

In severe forms of OI progressive deformity, barrel shaped chest, and scoliosis are commonly found. Patients are often in a hypermetabolic state with increased respiratory and heart rates. Recurrent pneumonia, right-sided heart failure, valvular insufficiency, and aortic root dilatation also are typical. Cardiovascular and respiratory system manifestations are considered secondary to skeletal changes, such as scoliosis and rib fractures. (Hortop *et al.* 1986, Singer *et al.* 2001, Forlino *et al.* 2011) Vertebral deformities are generally common in OI, with prevalence ranging from 39% to 100%. (Falvo *et al.* 1974, Norimatsu *et al.* 1982, Ishikawa *et al.* 1996)

Blue sclerae is a typical characteristic of certain OI types. Patients often display progressive hearing loss that usually begins in the early twenties or thirties and is twice as common in women as in men. Conductive hearing loss is caused by otosclerosis-like damage to the ossicles in the middle ear. Its prevalence in the Finnish adult OI population is 58%. No correlation has been found between hearing loss and collagen mutation type or mutated collagen gene (types I, III and IV OI examined) (Kuurila *et al.* 2000, Kuurila *et al.* 2002).

Typical clinical characteristics also include certain dental and occlusal features. A total of 10-50% of OI patients display dentin dysplasia that clinically, histologically, and radiologically resembles dentinogenesis imperfecta (Lukinmaa *et al.* 1987, Waltimo and Lukinmaa 1997). The presence of dentin dysplasia, as well as normal color of sclera, implies qualitative collagen defect. OI patients may exhibit hypodontia, delayed tooth eruption, impaction of teeth, and a high incidence of malocclusion. (Lukinmaa *et al.* 1987, O'Connell and Marini 1999, Malmgren and Norgren 2002, Waltimo-Sirén 2011).

#### 2.3.2.2. Classification

At the beginning of the 20th century, OI was divided into two forms; congenita and tarda. The latter was considered a milder form, in which fractures occurred only after birth. In the following years, the vast clinical variation of symptoms and the inherited nature of the disorder was recognised. As a result, Sillence and co-workers (1979a) presented a more comprehensive classification. The original Sillence classification that gained general acceptance is based on clinical and radiological characteristics and divides the disorder into types I through IV (Sillence *et al.* 1979a and 1979b). Sillence classification was later extended to include histologically, radiologically, and genetically distinct OI types (Table 1) (Roughley *et al.* 2003, Rauch and Glorieux 2004). The classification of OI is a subject of ongoing debate among researchers.

OI continues to be an essentially clinical diagnosis; clinical severity is the central parameter of the classification (Van Dijk *et al.* 2010). Classification of an individual patient is not always straightforward, however, because the clinical symptoms present a continuum. Therefore, a genotype-based classification has also been proposed (Forlino *et al.* 2011). Mutation-based classification appears more individual and might lead to an assumption of individual mutation-targeted treatment, whereas phenotype-based classification corresponds more closely with the current phenotype-guided treatment protocols. In general, the phenotype-genotype correlation in OI is somewhat limited (Rauch *et al.* 2010, Van Dijk *et al.* 2010).

Type I is the most common form of OI. It is clinically the mildest type with normal or nearly normal height, increased risk of fracture, but usually no deformity. Blue sclerae is a common finding. Type II OI is considered lethal perinatally due to respiratory problems. Type III OI is characterized by progressive bone deformity and short height. Fracture incidence without medication remains high throughout life. Dentine dysplasia is a frequent finding. Type IV OI is clinically the most diverse type. Total body height is often decreased from mean values for age. (Sillence and Rimoin 1978)

Types V-VII share phenotypic characteristics with types I-IV, in addition to each having some distinguishing traits. These OI types are associated with normal teeth and sclerae. Diagnosis is made on the basis of clinical and bone histological findings, and mutation analysis (Roughley *et al.* 2003). Type V OI is of unknown etiology. The distinguishing histology is lamellar organization of bone into irregular mesh-like appearance. Type V OI

is associated with hyperplastic callus formation at fracture sites and calcification of intraosseous membrane between the bones of the forearm. A dense band is seen on a radiograph adjacent to the growth plate of the long bones, and radial head dislocation is also typically seen. (Glorieux *et al.* 2000, Fassier *et al.* 2007, Cheung *et al.* 2008)

The defining feature of type VI OI is an abnormal histologic lamellation pattern with fishscale like appearance of the bone lamellae and the presence of excessive osteoid. This OI type is moderate in severity with vertebral body involvement. No Wormian bones or rhizomelia are usually present. (Roughley *et al.* 2003, Bishop 2010, Homan *et al.* 2011) Type VII OI patients exhibit varying phenotypes from moderately deforming to lethal. Typical clinical findings are short humeri and femur. Type VIII OI is associated with extremely low BMD, severe growth deficiency, and bulbous metaphyses. Typical radiological findings in childhood are popcorn-like bone structures. Type IX OI patients display a phenotype varying from moderate to lethal. (Bishop 2010, Forlino *et al.* 2011) Type XI OI is also called Bruck syndrome 1. It has been reported in single Turkish and Mexican families (Alanay *et al.* 2010, Forlino *et al.* 2011). Other syndromes and disorders with overlap in phenotypic features with OI include Cole-Carpenter syndrome and Ehlers-Danlos syndrome.

#### Table 1Classification of OI.

Туре	Inheritance	Gene defect	Phenotype
Ι	AD	<i>COLIA1</i> or <i>COLIA2</i>	Non-deforming
II	AD	<i>COLIA1</i> or <i>COLIA2</i>	Perinatally lethal
III	AD	<i>COL1A1</i> or <i>COL1A2</i>	Severe deformity, rhizomelic dwarfism
IV	AD	<i>COL1A1</i> or <i>COL1A2</i>	Moderate deformity, slightly shortened height
V	AD	?	Moderate to severe deformity, hyperplastic callus, mineralised intraosseous memebrane.
VI	AR	SERPINF1	Moderate deformity, abnormal bone architecture
VII	AR	CRTAP	Severe to lethal osteochondrodysplasia and rhizomelic dwarvism
VIII	AR	LEPRE1	Severe to lethal osteochondrodysplasia
IX	AR	PPIB	Moderate to lethal deformity
X	AR	SERPINH1	Severe to lethal deformity
XI	AR	FKBP10	Progressive deformity

# 2.3.3. Treatment

As no cure for OI currently exists, treatment is multidisciplinary and aimed at preventing and controlling symptoms, as well as maintaining good life quality. This can be achieved by non-surgical management, such as physical therapy, bracing and splinting, surgical management, such as intramedullary rods and spinal surgery, and/or medico-pharmacological management.

Medication treatment is either aimed at reducing bone resorption or enhancing bone formation. Currently bisphosphonates are virtually the drug of choice at least in the severe OI forms. They decrease bone turnover by inactivating osteoclasts and inducing their apoptosis thus increasing bone mass. Several observational studies have reported on the benefits of bisphosphonate treatment in patients with OI since 1998 (Åström and Söderhäll 1998, Glorieux *et al.* 1998, Phillipi *et al.* 2008, Vuorimies *et al.* 2011, Ward *et al.* 2011). Reported benefits include increased BMD, reduction in fracture rate and deformities of long bones, decreased bone pain, increase in the mean cortical width and vertebral size, and increased mobility (Plotkin *et al.* 2000, Roughly *et al.* 2003, Rauch *et al.* 2006, Bishop *et al.* 2010, Semler *et al.* 2011). More benefits are gained with severely affected patients than with the milder OI forms. The optimal dose and duration of bisphosphonate treatment remains to be determined. At present, maximum gain seems to be obtained after 2-4 years of treatment during growth (Rauch *et al.* 2006). Bisphosphonates are well tolerated. An acute phase reaction has been reported with first exposure. The long-term effects of accumulated bisphosphonates are, however, uncertain.

Attempts to aid bone formation with growth hormone and parathyroid hormone therapy have been unconvincing in patients with OI. Vitamin D and calcium intake needs to be monitored during growth and supplemented when necessary. Stem cell and enzyme replacement therapy might become an alternative treatment in the future. (Monti *et al.* 2010)

# 2.4. Basilar pathology

Basilar pathology refers to anomalies of the cranial base and/or craniocervical junction that cause neural compression and/or vascular compromise. In these conditions, brain stem compression can lead to neurological symptoms and other symptoms, such as hydrocephalus and macrocephaly, resulting from the prevention of cerebrospinal fluid circulation (Charnas and Marini 1993, Sawin and Menezes 1997). Basilar pathology can be caused by dysplasia, malformation or deformation (Spranger *et al.* 1982).

In the literature, early reports on basilar pathology date back to 1790 (Ackermann 1790). Subsequently Chamberlain drew wider attention to these pathologic conditions with his work on Bantu Africans (1939) suggesting that in healthy individuals atlas and axis should lie caudal to the "base line" drawn from the dorsal margin of the hard palate to the posterior edge of the foramen magnum, also called opisthion. McGregor introduced a reference line modified from that of Chamberlain's in 1948, running from the upper surface of the posterior edge of the hard palate to the most caudal point of the occipital curve (McGregor 1948). His reasoning for the new reference line was that the lowest point on the occipital curve is easier to locate from a lateral skull radiograph than the opisthion point. Bull later confirmed the increased reliability, expressed as smaller variation in results, when McGregor's reference line was used instead of Chamberlain's. Bull also concluded that, when assessing basilar pathology in adults, age is an insignificant variable. Instead he found a gender difference in normal values (Bull *et al.* 1955).

Pathological conditions of the cranial base and craniocervical junction are divided into basilar invagination, basilar impression, and platybasia (Figure 6). Sillence proposed the nomenclature to describe these entities that can occur simultaneously or as isolated findings. (Sillence 1994, Kovero *et al.* 2006) In several studies the terms have been used synonymously making comparison of results difficult.

Diagnosis of basilar pathology can be made from a lateral skull radiograph, or from midline sagittal MR or CT image, because all but one reference line commonly used in the literature are situated at the midsagittal plane: Chamberlain's line (Chamberlain 1939), McRae's line (McRae 1953), McGregor's line (McGregor 1948), the anterior cranial base angle, DM distance (Kovero *et al.* 2006), Ranawat's line (Tassanawipas *et al.* 2005), Wackenheim's clivus baseline, the clivus-canal angle, Bull's angle, and Landzert's angle, (Smoker 1994). The atlanto-occipital joint axis angle is measured from an antero-posterior or coronal view of the skull (Smoker 1994). Cronin *et al.* (2009) demonstrated a similarity of results using the different imaging modalities with Chamberlain, McGregor, and McRae's measures. MR image is ideal for the evaluation of soft tissues, neural structures, and ligaments. CT images, on the other hand, provide excellent images of the osseous structures. Traditional radiographs are recommended as an initial screening method of basilar pathology, and in epidemiologic studies (Janus *et al.* 2003, Kovero *et al.* 2006). In case of a pathological finding in a lateral skull radiograph, CT scan or MR imaging should be conducted (Menezes 2008b). The advantages of plain radiographs include low radiation dose compared to a CT scan, low cost, easy accessibility, and short exposure time, making it simple for the patient.

Basilar pathology can be symptomless or cause a spectrum of symptoms varying in impact and strength. Possible symptoms include motor myelopathy, sensory abnormalities, brain stem or lower cranial nerve dysfunction, vascular compromise, and basilar migraine. Motor myelopathy can be non-specific, manifesting as a lack of endurance or as paresis. Sensory abnormalities include posterior column dysfunction, hyperalgesia, and bladder dysfunction. Brain stem dysfunction can be expressed as nystagmus, apnea, ataxia, or dysmetria. Lower cranial nerve dysfunction presents often as dysphagia, soft palate paralysis, or trapezius muscle weakness. Symptoms of vascular compromise are syncope, vertigo, and intermittent paresis. Basilar migraine pain is documented in 25% of children with basilar invagination. (Hayes *et al.* 1999, Menezes 2008c, Smoker and Khanna 2008) The physical appearance of patients often includes a relatively short neck and restricted neck movement (Pearce 2007). Basilar pathology can also lead to respiratory arrest and sudden death (Sawin and Menezes 1997).

#### 2.4.1. Pathology of craniocervical junction

Craniocervical junction anomalies are congenital osseous, developmental, or acquired abnormalities of the occipital bone, foramen magnum, or the first two cervical vertebrae. First, congenital structural abnormalities include anomalies of the atlas often involving the posterior arch, such as complete or partial aplasias, hypoplasia, and clefts, as well as anomalies of the axis. Odontoid hypoplasia is a rare condition ranging in severity from presence of rudimentary dens to complete aplasia (Menezes 2008b). Occipital bone anomalies include basiocciput hypoplasia, also called short clivus, occipital condyle hypoplasia, and atlantooccipital segmentation failure, also termed occipitalization of the atlas. These anomalies are often associated with basilar impression and basilar invagination. Second, developmental anomalies can be secondary to systemic disorders that affect skeletal growth and development. Finally, primary acquired abnormality is the result of local bone destruction caused by, for example, a tumour or trauma. (Menezes 1998, Smoker and Khanna 2008)

#### 2.4.1.1. Definitions and measurements

Pathology of the craniocervical junction can be divided into basilar invagination and basilar impression. Basilar invagination is defined as the protrusion of the uppermost vertebral structures into foramen magnum. Definition of basilar impression, in contrast, is a relative lowering of the cranial base with consequent positioning of the uppermost vertebral structures above the caudal border of the skull.

Basilar invagination is commonly evaluated by measuring the perpendicular distance of the tip of the odontoid process to McRae's reference line, also called the foramen magnum line, that extends from the anterior to the posterior edge of foramen magnum, that is from basion to opisthion (Figure 1, Study I) (McRae 1953). Basilar invagination is diagnosed when the tip of the odontoid extends above the McRae's line, thus the measure is positive (McRae 1953, Kovero *et al.* 2006).

Basilar impression can be evaluated by measuring the perpendicular distance of the tip of the odontoid process to Chamberlain's line or McGregor's line, or by measuring the D-M distance (Chamberlain 1939, McGregor 1948, Kovero *et al.* 2006). The reference line to measure D-M distance is a line parallel to the nasion-sella line passing through the lowest point of the occipital curve (Figure 1, Study I). This reference line was first introduced in Kovero et al. (2006) to obtain a reference level more stable in OI patients than the one involving the posterior nasal spine. Several values have been suggested as a threshold limit of pathology (McGregor 1948, Hayes *et al.* 1999). Kovero *et al.* (2006) revised the threshold limits of the Chamberlain measure by more than 10.5 mm, of the McGregor measure by more than 11.9 mm, and with a vertical D-M distance more than 9.4 mm as

diagnostic radiological criterion for basilar impression in the adult population. These values are 3 standard deviations above average of healthy controls. The group further suggested that patients, whose value exceeds that of healthy controls by 2 standard deviations, warrant further examination.

Other measurements, more rarely used in literature, to evaluate craniocervical junction pathology include the Ranawat measure, which is the perpendicular distance between the centre of the sclerotic ring of C2 and a line drawn along the antero-posterior axis of C1 (Tassanawipas *et al.* 2005), Bull's angle, which is the intersection of the hard palate and the plane of the atlas (Bull *et al.* 1955), and Wackenheim clival line, which is a line drawn along the superior surface of the clivus. Protrusion of the odontoid posterior to the line's projection is considered a pathological finding (Thiebaut *et al.* 1961).

### 2.4.2. Platybasia

#### 2.4.2.1. Definitions and measurements

Platybasia is defined as the flattening of the skull base, and is often associated with craniocervical junction pathology (Pearce 2007). It is infrequently accompanied by a developmentally shortened clivus (Pang and Thompson 2011), however platybasia can be asymptomatic and therefore its clinical significance is disputed (McRae 1953).

Platybasia is commonly assessed by measuring the anterior cranial base angle, which is an angle between the nasion-sella and sella-basion lines. Nasion is defined as the most anterior ventral point of the suture between the frontal and nasal bones, whilst sella is the midpoint of the pituitary fossa. McGregor considered an angle above 148 degrees to be highly suggestive of platybasia in young adults (McGregor 1948), whilst Kovero *et al.* (2006) set the threshold limit at 146 degrees for adults.

Another, more rarely used, measure to evaluate platybasia is the NTB angle of Welcker that joins the nasion, tuberculum sellae, and basion (Pang and Thompson 2011).
### 2.4.3. Basilar pathology in OI

A wide range of craniofacial morphology is observed in OI, from nearly normal to severe dysmorphology (Waltimo-Sirén *et al.* 2005). Typical radiographic findings include a generalized decrease in density and thickness of calvarial bones. Delayed closure of fontanelles and sutures, and excessive Wormian bone formation might also be visible. (Hayes *et al.* 1999) Intersutural Wormian bones are most evident along the lambdoid suture, which connects the parietal and temporal bones with the occipital bone on the posterior aspect of the skull (Cremin *et al.* 1982, Glass *et al.* 2004). Extremely osteoporotic bone might in some cases make diagnosis of basilar pathology challenging from a plain radiograph (Janus *et al.* 2003).

The pathogenesis of craniocervical anomalies in OI remains obscure. Anomalies have been observed in OI types I, III, and IV, but not in the perinatally lethal type II (Sawin and Menezes 1997). A generally accepted hypothesis is that craniocervical junction anomalies are caused by skeletal dysplasia and force induced deformation. The weight of the brain compresses the cranial base, causing microfractures that result in relative upward migration of the craniocervical structures (Figure 6) (Frank *et al.* 1982, Sillence 1994). Findings reported by Sawin and Menezes (1997) support this hypothesis; they report a frequent intraoperative finding of thickened proliferative bone that resembles callus in the skull base.

In patients with OI, basilar impression has been noted to be a more frequent finding than basilar invagination (Hayes *et al.* 1999). Reported symptoms of craniocervical junction pathology in patients with OI include Chiari malformation (herniation of the cerebellum through the foramen magnum), hydrocephalus, and other consequences of compression of brain stem and related structures by bone or soft tissues. Symptoms can also result from indirect compromise of the blood supply. (Frank *et al.* 1982, Sawin and Menezes 1997, Charnas and Marini 1993, Smith *et al.* 2010) Sudden infant death has also been reported following respiratory or cardiac failure (McAllion and Paterson 1996, Menezes 1997). Basilar invagination, clinically exhibited as short neck, has been associated with the occurrence of sleep apnea in patients with OI (Li *et al.* 2002). In severe forms of the

disorder, macrocephalia has been described (Charnas and Marini 1993, Primorac et al. 2001).

The prevalence of basilar invagination or basilar impression has been studied in children and adults with types I, III, and IV OI (Table 2). The prevalence figures range from 0-100% in type I, 18-100% in type III, and 4-71% in type IV (Charnas and Marini 1993, Sillence 1994, Jensen and Lund 1997, Engelbert *et al.* 1998, Janus *et al.* 2003, Kuurila *et al.* 2003, Kovero *et al.* 2006). The medication status of the patients has not been reported in these articles. Studies on paediatric patients report the onset of craniocervical pathology from the age of 2 to 3 years onwards (Rush *et al.* 1989, Sillence 1993). In concordance with these studies, basilar pathology has been suspected to be progressive in patients with OI (Charnas and Marini 1993, Sillence 1994, Kovero *et al.* 2006).



Figure 6 Radiograph of a female aged 13.5 years with type III OI exhibiting basilar impression and platybasia in the absence of basilar invagination. McRae's line and D-M distance line are indicated in black, and the anterior cranial base angle in white.

Table 2	Prevalence	of basilar	pathology	in different	OI types
---------	------------	------------	-----------	--------------	----------

Author	Age of patients (years)	Type I n/N(%)	Type III n/N(%)	Type IV n/N(%)	Criteria for abnormality
Charnas & Marini 1993	0.3-65	0/4(0)	6/33(18)	2/31(6)	McRae >0 McGregor >5mm
Sillence 1994	NA	(10-100)	(30)	(5-71)	Chamberlain >5mm McGregor >7mm
Jensen & Lund 1997	13-62	1/35(3)	4/4(100)	5/13(38)	Chamberlain >5mm McGregor >7mm
Engelbert et al. 1998	1-16	0/17(0)	7/16(44)	1/14(7)	McGregor (threshold value not reported)
Janus <i>et al</i> . 2003	0-18	0/85(0)	7/21(33)	1/24(4)	Chamberlain and McGregor (threshold values not reported)
Kuurila <i>et al.</i> 2003	19-69	3/21(14)	2/5*(40)	4/15(27)	McRae >0 Chamberlain >10mm
Kovero <i>et al.</i> 2006	16-69	4/29(14)	3/5(60)	7/19(37)	McRae >0 D-M distance >9.4mm

n = number of patients with pathological finding

N = total number of patients in the study

NA data not available

\* one patient was either of type III or IV

### 2.4.4. Basilar pathology in other disorders

As stated earlier, primary basilar pathology can result from congenital structural anomalies. Atlantooccipital fusion, or occipitalization of the atlas, is the most common congenital abnormality of the upper cervical spine. The incidence is around 0.25% in the

general population (Menezes 2008c). Atlantooccipital fusion refers to partial or complete congenital fusion between the atlas and the base of the occiput resulting in an increased risk of atlantoaxial instability. The severity ranges from a complete bony fusion to a fibrous band. Atlantooccipital fusion is a result of segmentation failure between the fourth occipital sclerotome and the first spinal sclerotome, as in Klippel-Feil syndrome. (Menezes 1998, Gholve *et al.* 2007, Smoker and Khanna 2008)

The majority of axis anomalies are associated with os odontoideum, which is defined as a failed fusion between the tip of the odontoid and the body of C2. The base of the dens is often hypoplastic. (Smoker and Khanna 2008) While the exact etiology is unclear, os odontoideum is believed to result from a childhood trauma or a fusion failure of the base of odontoid. This anomaly is often asymptomatic, and thus only incidental radiographic findings of a separate ossicle moving with the clivus or anterior arch of the atlas are seen. The ossicle may, in fact, fuse with the clivus. The condition may also be revealed with the onset of symptoms following minor trauma. Os odontoideum can cause atlantoaxial instability and compression of the spinal cord. (Menezes 1999) Increased incidence of os odontoideum has been found in Down syndrome, Morquio syndrome, spondyloepiphyseal dysplasia, Klippel-Feil syndrome, and Larsen syndrome (Smoker and Khanna 2008).

Secondary developmental basilar anomalies, as in OI, have also been described in achondroplasia, spondyloepiphyseal dysplasia, Morquio syndrome, chondroosteodystrophy, cleidocranial dysostosis, Goldenhar syndrome, Larsen syndrome, Weaver syndrome, Paget's disase, rheumatoid arthritis, rickets, hyperparathyroidism, and osteoporosis (Charnas and Marini 1993, Menezes 2005, Menezes 2008c). An increased incidence of atlantoaxial dislocation, possibly leading to basilar invagination, in occasional patients with Down syndrome, is due to ligamentous laxity (Uno et al. 1996). Similar occipitoatlantoaxial instability and increased incidence of basilar invagination are seen in Ehlers-Danlos syndrome and in some mucopolysaccharidoses, such as Morquio syndrome. In achondroplasia, on the other hand, the aetiology of craniocervical anomalies lies within underdevelopment of the skull base. (Milhorat et al. 2007, Smoker and Khanna 2008)

### 2.4.5. Treatment

Treatment of craniocervical junction pathology involves either non-operative approaches with skeletal halo traction, or operative approaches, with or without preoperative halo traction. The primary goal is to relieve compression at the craniocervical junction. When operative treatment is needed, generally either posterior decompression of the foramen magnum or anterior transoral-pharyngeal decompression is conducted, followed by occipitocervical fusion. Good long-term outcomes with sustained benefit in 60% of patients have been achieved with such decompression surgery and dorsal stabilization. (Kurimoto *et al.* 1991, Ibrahim and Crockard 2007, Menezes 2008d) Annual clinical examination, including neurological, and radiological follow-up, are recommended for surgically treated patients to monitor for possible recurrence of pathology (Sawin and Menezes 1997).

# 3. Aims of the study

The aim of this study was to analyse the morphology and developmental changes in the cranial base and craniocervical junction in an unselected control population and in patients with OI.

The following specific aims were set for the present study:

- 1 To analyze the reliability of identification of anatomic landmarks on lateral skull radiographs based on which craniocervical junction dimensions can be measured (I).
- 2 To explore whether any of the commonly used measurements of cranial base or craniocervical junction is less sensitive to errors than the others (I).
- 3 To study changes in the vertical dimensions of the craniocervical junction, and in the flexion of the anterior skull base in healthy individuals during growth (II).
- 4 To define diagnostic criteria for basilar anomalies in growing individuals (II).
- 5 To analyze the prevalence and clinical and genetic correlates of craniocervical junction anomalies in growing OI patients (III, IV).
- 6 To explore the natural course of development of basilar anomalies in growing OI patients (IV).
- 7 To establish guidelines for radiologic screening and follow-up of craniocervical junction area in patients with OI (IV).

## 4. Materials and methods

### 4.1. Diagnostic images

The study was based on lateral images of the skull. Lateral skull radiographs, MR, and CT images of the midsagittal plane were used. Radiographs had been taken with the central X-ray passing through the porion-porion axis and head position fixed with ear rods in cephalostat whenever possible.

### 4.1.1. Normal population cohorts

The subjects were a sub-sample of 248 individuals participating in a Longitudinal Growth Study, conducted on an unselected sample of healthy ethnic Finns (Caucasian Europeans) between 1967 and 1993 at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Finland. Subjects were randomly selected from those with a longitudinal series of at least five lateral skull radiographs obtained during growth (Table 3). Cut-off age was set at 25 years, up to which vertebral body growth has been reported to normally occur (reviewed by Harrison *et al.* 1977). The changes in craniocervical junction dimensions during growth were assessed for a mean observation period of 16.0 years (range 10.1 to 20.8 years).

For study IV, images of additional 15 healthy children, aged 0-3 years, were analysed (Table 3 and Figure 7). The children had been examined at the Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital, for suspected accidental skull fractures possibly affecting calvarial or facial, but not skull base structures.

In study II the radiographs were grouped according to gender and age for analysis. In studies III and IV the healthy subjects were divided into two-year age groups that were age-matched with the patient cohort.

Publication	Controls		OI patients		Total	Age range
					number of	(years)
					images	
	А	В	С	D		
Ι	23				23	4.5-24.9
II	53				308	3.4-25.7
III	191		187		440	3.4-59
IV	53	15		76	474	0-39.1

**Table 3.**Number of subjects and images comprising the material of this thesis

A Helsinki Longitudinal Growth Study, Finland

B Young children, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Finland

C Shriners Hospital for Children, Canada

D Helsinki University Central Hospital, Finland



Figure 7 Age and gender distribution of control and patient cohorts (IV).

## 4.1.2. OI patient cohorts

Diagnosis of OI in all of the patients included in studies III and IV was based on clinical features, appropriate family history and/or identification of a mutation in the genes encoding type I collagen. In study III, the patient population comprised individuals with a clinical diagnosis of OI, who were examined at the Shriners Hospital for Children in Montreal, Canada. Of the 187 patients, 96 were female and 91 were male. When more than one skull radiograph of a single patient was available, the most recent one was used for the cross-sectional analysis. For the 62 patients (33%) with several available radiographs, the first and most recent ones were used for longitudinal analysis.

In study IV, all clinically diagnosed OI patients were included, examined at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki and/or Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital, of whom an initial lateral skull radiograph or MR image had been obtained before the age of 25 years. Altogether 76 patients, 39 females and 37 males, from 69 families, met the inclusion criteria. Longitudinal data were available from 31 patients (41%). The first available image of each patient was used for cross-sectional analysis. In total, 143 radiographs and 7 MR images were analyzed. Table 4 displays the distribution of the OI types as well as selected clinical characteristics of the patients.

OI type		Ι	Ι	II	Г	V	V*	VI*	VII*
Study	III	IV	III	IV	III	IV	III	III	III
N	88	47	30	13	51	16	11	4	3
Height (Z-score)	-1.2	-1.2	-6.7	-6.3	-3.5	-4.0	-2.6	-4.4	-2.1
aBMD (Z-score)	-2.3	-	-3.3	-	-2.6	-	-2.0	-1.9	-2.1
Dentin dysplasia (%)	17	-	87	-	51	-	0	0	0
Blue sclerae (%)	82	-	80	-	57	-	18	0	0
Wormian bones (%)	36	-	100	-	82	-	73	0	67
Bisph tx (%)	46	5.4	93	30.8	96	50	82	100	100
Scoliosis (%)	-	3.3	-	69.2	-	53.8	-	-	-
Head circumference (Z-score)	-	-0.2	-	-0.1	-	0.8	-	-	-

<b>Table 4.</b> OI type and clinical characteristics of the patient cohorts in studies III a.	nd IV.
---	--------

\* No patients of this type in study IV

### 4.2. Radiographic measurements

Magnification at the midsagittal plane was calculated for each image according to the distance of the patient from the film and X-ray tube, then linear measurement values were corrected to natural size. When radiographic magnification was unknown, only angular measures were used, in addition to McRae's linear measurement as positive or negative.

Two examiners together identified 7 cephalometric landmark points on all of the images (Figure 8). Measurements from traditional radiographs were obtained with a hand ruler to

the closest 0.5mm distance or 0.5 degrees (°) angle (I, II, IV). Digital radiographs and MR images were analysed using a specially programmed algorithm in Viewbox software (version 3, dHal, Kifissia, Greece) (IV). In study III, the measurements were made to the closest 1mm or 1° from the average result of two independent observers.

In studies I-IV, the nasion (N), sella (S), and basion (Ba) points were located to measure the anterior cranial base angle. In studies I-III, the other points were traced to measure the perpendicular distance from the odontoid process (D) to four previously described reference lines;

- 1. McRae's line (Ba-Op)
- 2. Chamberlain's line (PNS-Op)
- 3. Modified McGregor's line (from posterior edge of the hard palate to the lowest point on occipital curve, PNS-M)
- 4. D-M distance

In study IV, the distance of the dens from the reference line of McRae, D-M distance, and the novel D-M angle were measured. D-M angle was defined as the angle between a line running through the lowest point of the occipital curve parallel to the sella-nasion line (as for D-M distance), and a line drawn from tip of the dens to the lowest point of occipital curve (Figure 8.). The linear measurements were considered positive when the dens point lay above the reference line, and the D-M angle when the line connecting dens and the lowest point on occipital curve was situated above the line running through the lowest point of occipital curve parallel to the sella-nasion line.



Figure 8 Cephalometric landmarks, reference lines, and angular measurements used.
Landmarks in alphabetical order were Ba (basion), D (dens), M-point, N (nasion),
Op (opisthion), PNS (posterior nasal spine), S (sella turcica). Numbered reference
lines and angular measurements were; 1.McRae's line 2. Chamberlain's line 3.
McGregor's line 4. D-M distance 5. D-M angle 6. Anterior cranial base angle.

The following definitions and diagnostic criteria were used:

- Basilar invagination was diagnosed when McRae measure was at or above 0.
- Basilar impression was diagnosed when Chamberlain measure, McGregor measure, or D-M distance were more than 3 SD above the average of age-matched healthy controls (III). In study IV, the criteria for screening patients for further evaluation with a MR or CT scan was lowered to a D-M distance or D-M angle more than 2.5 SD above the average of age-matched healthy controls.

- Platybasia was diagnosed when the anterior cranial base angle was more than 3 SD above control average in study III, and more than 2.5 SD in study IV, above the average of healthy controls.
- Patients who received at least one of these diagnoses, were considered to have a cranial base anomaly.

#### 4.2.1. Intra- and interexaminer error

Two examiners analysed 20 lateral skull radiographs, and 11 examiners 3 radiographs independently, to assess the intra- and interexaminer error in landmark identification (I). A sensitivity analysis was conducted, with the results of the most experienced examiner as a reference, to test the impact of the difference in the location of a single landmark on the measurements. This was done to simulate the clinical situation where an examiner, previously unfamiliar with the method, starts using it. Another purpose was to compare the sensitivity of the different measurements to errors.

#### 4.3. Other measurements

Height, weight, and head circumference measurements were converted to age- and sexspecific Z-scores (III, IV), as well as lumbar spine ( $L_1$ - $L_4$ ) areal bone density (LS aBMD), as determined by DXA in the posteroanterior direction (III).

#### 4.4. Statistical methods

Primary statistical tools were mean, standard deviation (SD), and range. Nonparametric statistics were applied when the data were not normally distributed. To test the reliability of cephalometric landmark identification, based on which the craniocervical junction dimensions are measured, the reproducibility of these landmark points was analysed using the Dahlberg's formula on repeated measurements (I). Dahlberg's formula combines systematic and random components of the error, and includes the assumption that the two determinations are made independently of each other (Dahlberg 1940).

Spearman's Rank Correlation test was used to calculate correlations between the measurements in the control cohort. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed for each measurement to test whether the mean values of the age groups differed significantly. Mann-Whitney test was used to test differences between the measurements of males and females. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. (II)

Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to evaluate the correlation between D-M angle and D-M distance (IV).

Logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate the relationship between patient characteristics and the presence of cranial base abnormalities (III, IV). Potential predictor variables were age, gender, and height Z-score (III, IV), as well as OI type (type I, III or IV), intravenous bisphosphonate treatment history, weight, presence of dentin dysplasia (dentinogenesis imperfecta) or blue sclerae, and type of collagen type I gene mutation (III). Bisphosphonate treatment status at the time of imaging and craniocervical junction pathology were included as dichotomous variables (yes/no).

Calculations were performed using PASW Statistics software version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R language (version 2.13.0, R Development Core Team, R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2008).

#### 4.5. Ethical considerations

Informed consent was obtained from all of the participants, or their legal guardians, for the Helsinki Longitudinal Growth Study. Images of patients with OI had been originally taken for diagnostic and/or treatment purposes and were thus justified. The ethics committee of the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, the Joint ethical committee of Helsinki University Central Hospital, and Shriners Hospital Institutional Review Board have approved these studies.

### 5. Results

#### 5.1. Validation of methods

The distribution of landmarks in this study, determined independently by several examiners, was not random but systematic, following the anatomic form of the identified structure. The magnitude of difference in the landmark identification was dependent on the landmark in question. Inter- and intraexaminer errors were of a similar magnitude, although intraexaminer error declined in the repeated landmark identification. The extent to which variation in landmark identification affected the measurement results differed from landmark to landmark. Sensitivity analysis revealed that variation in the location of a landmark affected the linear measurement values on average less than the actual shift. In contrast, age of the subject did not affect the magnitude of random error. (I)

Of the linear measurements, the McGregor measure exhibited the smallest inter-examiner variation (SD on average 1.1 mm), and was least sensitive to errors in landmark positioning. McRae's measure, in contrast, displayed the largest interexaminer variation, and was the most sensitive to changes in landmark positioning. Notably, however, the basilar invagination diagnosis, based on McRae's measure, simply requires that dens vertically exceeds McRae's line, that is, the measure value is either positive or negative. Importantly, despite the inter-examiner variation, none of the consecutive results of the linear measurements or the anterior cranial base angle would have led to a false positive clinical diagnosis. (I)

In study III, D-M measure was confirmed to be a more sensitive indicator of basilar impression in patients with OI than Chamberlain or McGregor measures.

In study IV, a new angular measure, D-M angle, was constructed to overcome the need to correct the radiographic magnification. To obtain reference values for the novel D-M angle measure, the angle was calculated on 290 radiographs of a longitudinal series in a subgroup of 65 subjects (aged 0-26) from the control cohort. Correlation analysis

indicated a statistically significant positive relationship between D-M angle and D-M distance (r=0.980, 95% CI: 0.967-0.990; P<0.01, n=290), which suggests that D-M angle may be applicable as a measure of basilar impression.

#### 5.2. Basilar structures in normal population

In young children, the tip of the odontoid process is situated relatively more caudally in relation to the skull base structures and reaches a level similar to that of adults by 7 years of age in both males and females. This age-related change was most evident with the McRae measure and least conspicuous in D-M distance. Therefore, it can be concluded that growth-related changes in the craniocervical junction have a tendency to bring the odontoid process and skull base closer to each other. Individual variation is notable, both in the distance of dens from the reference lines and in the direction of growth-related changes. In some subjects, the measures increased during growth, while in others they decreased, or periods of increase and decrease alternated. No specific age at which these changes occurred could be determined. This individual variation was camouflaged in the cross-sectional analysis. (II) The D-M distance increased in 43% of subjects, decreased in 55%, and remained constant in 2% of subjects with age (II). A decrease was evident in the anterior skull base angle during growth before the age of three years (II, III, IV). Table 5 displays the age specific measurement results for selected parameters.

Age group (years)		0-2	3-4	5-6	7-8	>9
McRae measure (mm)	Mean	NA	-5.1	-7.2	-5.1	-4.5
	Min	ΝA	-7.6	-13	-9.4	-10
	Max	INA	-3.3	-2	-1	-1
D-M angle (degrees)	Mean	-6.9	0.7	-7	-2.4	-3.4
	Min	-23	-5	-23	-14	-24
	Max	3	8	7	9	11
Anterior cranial base angle (degrees)	Mean	136	130	131	130	129
	Min	131	116	116	123	121
	Max	147	136	139	140	139

**Table 5.**Normal values for selected cranial base measures in different age groups. The<br/>mean, minimum, and maximum values are given for each parameter.

NA data not available

The McRae measure was negative in all controls at all ages, indicating that the odontoid process was situated below foramen magnum level (II, III, IV). Similarly, none of the control subjects exceeded the clinical screening limit (+2.5 SD from the average) of platybasia or basilar impression (II). The age group means for linear measurements were similar in females and males, with only a few exceptions (II, III). In subsequent studies, the results of both sexes were pooled to ensure an adequate sample size for each age group. Based on these figures for normal development we constructed diagnostic age-dependent criteria for basilar impression and platybasia (Table 6).

Age-group	0-2	3-4	5-6	7-8	≥9
(years)					
D-M					
distance	NA	8.8	7.1	6.9	7.4
(mm)					
D-M angle	10.9	14.2	12.0	11.7	10.4
(degrees)	10.8	14.5	13.0	11./	12.4
Anterior					
cranial base	146	146	1.42	1.4.1	1.40
angle	146	146	143	141	143
(degrees)					

**Table 6.**Threshold values of anomaly. D-M distance, D-M angle, and anterior cranial baseangle threshold values set at +2.5 SD from the normal average of each age group.

NA data not available

### 5.3. Basilar structures in OI

### 5.3.1. Cross-sectional analysis

Craniocervical anomaly was found in all studied OI types. In study III, 41 patients (22%) had at least one cranial base anomaly (diagnostic level set at +3 SD). Isolated basilar invagination was found in 4 patients, isolated basilar impression in 7 patients, and isolated platybasia in 25. A combination of two of these conditions was evident in 4 patients (2.1%) and one patient with type III OI was diagnosed with all three.

In study IV, the incidence was 37% (28 patients) for an abnormal finding, exceeding the +2.5 SD limit, in one of the three cranial base measures. In the cohort, 12 patients were diagnosed only with platybasia, 1 with isolated basilar invagination and 1 with isolated basilar impression. Of those with an abnormal finding, 44% displayed more than one type

of anomaly. Six patients, of whom one had type I, one type IV, and four type III OI, displayed all three pathological conditions.

In study III, the analyses of the association between clinical characteristics and skull base anomaly were limited to a group of 169 patients with OI types I, III and IV, as the other OI types were too rare for detailed statistical evaluation. The presence of dentin dysplasia and Wormian bones were positively associated with occurrence of cranial base anomalies, whereas higher Z-scores of height, weight and LS aBMD as well as a diagnosis of OI type I were associated with lower odds for a cranial base abnormality. Age, gender, scleral hue, and a history of bisphosphonate treatment were not significantly related to the presence of anomalies (Table 4 in study III). The final regression model included only height Z-score as a significant independent determinant of cranial base anomalies (OR 0.53, 95% CI: 0.43 - 0.66; P<0.001). In the group of patients with a height Z-score below -3, the prevalence of anomalies was similar to patients who had received pamidronate in the first year of life (8 of 17 patients corresponding a prevalence of 47%) and to patients who had received bisphosphonates at a later age or not at all (21 of 44 patients, prevalence 48%; P=0.96 by chi square test), indicating lack of evidence for a suspected protective role of bisphosphonates in the development of basilar pathology (III). The regression analysis in study IV gave similar results, indicating a higher risk of having any of the pathological condition with a lower height Z-score (OR 0.64, 95% CI: 0.45-0.85; P<0.004, for one SD unit), independent of age or gender.

In study III, DNA sequence analysis was performed on 149 patients of whom 140 were positive for a mutation in *COL1A1* or *COL1A2*. Among them, cranial base anomalies were present in 6% of those with haploinsufficiency (frameshift or nonsense) mutations, in 43% of those with helical glycine substitutions in *COL1A1*, in 32% of those with helical glycine substitutions in *COL1A1*, in 32% of those with helical either *COL1A1* or *COL1A2*, in 17% of those with splice-site mutations affecting either *COL1A1* or *COL1A2*, in two of the five patients with C-propeptide mutations, and in one of the five patients with in-frame deletions. The type of collagen type I mutation was not independently associated with the prevalence of anomalies. (III)

The most prevalent diagnosis was platybasia (III, IV). In study III, platybasia was found in 16% of patients, whereas basilar impression and basilar invagination were diagnosed in 6% and 4% of patients, respectively. In study IV platybasia was present in 28.4% of patients, basilar impression in 14.9%, and basilar invagination in 13.2% of the patient cohort. Most of the Z-score values for cranial base measures were positive (above zero), indicating a relatively high position of the uppermost vertebral structures or flat cranial base (IV). Figures 4A,B, in study IV, display the cranial base measurement Z-scores of the cross-sectional patient analysis. Overall, in most measurements and age groups, the score was highest in type III OI, followed by type IV,and then type I, reflecting the general severity of the disorder.

### 5.3.2. Longitudinal analysis

In study III, cranial base anomaly was detected in nine patients (15%), as evaluated from the first available image. At the time of the last imaging, none of the 4 patients previously diagnosed with basilar impression fulfilled the criteria any longer. In contrast, platybasia persisted in all five patients originally diagnosed with it, and an additional seven patients had developed platybasia. Six patients had newly acquired basilar impression. Basilar invagination was not observed in the longitudinal patient group at either time point.

Likewise, in study IV we observed no statistically significant progression of craniocervical junction pathology with age. Longitudinal series were available for 31 patients of whom 25 had not been treated with bisphosphonates and were included in the final analysis. The beginning of series ranged from birth to 25 years. A normal McRae's measure in the beginning of follow-up changed into a pathological one in two of the five type III OI patients and in all three of the type IV OI patients later fulfilling the criterion for basilar invagination. Similarly, basilar impression developed during the follow-up in two of the four type III OI patients and two of the three type IV patients. Platybasia developed during follow-up in one of the eight type III patients, and in the only type IV patient diagnosed with it.

Once detected, basilar invagination persisted throughout the follow-up in all type IV patients, whereas in two type III patients, McRae's measure returned to normal at older age. Basilar impression persisted in the follow-up, with the exception of one type I patient, in whom the D-M angle measure returned to normal. Onset of basilar invagination and basilar impression was seen at all ages from 2 years onwards. Platybasia persisted in all the patients diagnosed with it (Figure 9). Platybasia was present from birth. Individual variation in measurement results was notable. (IV)

In study IV, the number of patients treated with bisphosphonates (n=14) was too small for detailed statistical evaluation. Visual exploration of the developmental curves of the cranial base measurements revealed, however, no difference between patients treated and not treated with bisphosphonates. Analysis of individual patients revealed that basilar pathology emerged even after treatment with bisphosphonates. One or more radiographs were available for eight patients after the onset of medication. For five of these patients, at least one image had been obtained before the bisphosphonate treatment. Platybasia was first detected in four patients (one type I, two type III, and one type IV), who had received intravenous pamidronic acid infusion. In two of these patients platybasia was not present before the treatment. Treatment time ranged from 1 to 3 years with a dose of 0.5-1.0 mg/kg per day, during 3 days, at 3 to 4 month intervals. One patient with type IV OI had initially normal craniocervical junction measure values, and developed basilar impression after 4 treatment episodes with zoledronic acid infusion. Platybasia improved in one type IV patient previously diagnosed with it, who had received intravenous pamidronic acid for 1.5 years at 3-month intervals, and later 3 treatment episodes with zoledronic acid infusion. Similarly, basilar impression could no longer be diagnosed, while platybasia persisted in one type IV patient, who had received 6 treatment episodes with zoledronic acid. Zoledronic acid was administred with a dose of 0.05 mg/kg as a single infusion every 6 months. One type IV patient acquired basilar invagination despite the treatment with pamidronic and zoledronic acid infusion for 3 years. The craniocervical status of this patient prior to medication was unknown. Despite the small sample of patients, similar tendencies in response to bisphosphonate treatment can be expected to appear universally in patients with OI.

A delay in the occurrence of symptoms following a radiological finding of cranial base pathology was observed in the study IV cohort. In the Finnish patient cohort, those with radiologically defined pathology were mostly free of clinical neurologic symptoms. One 18 –year-old female with type III OI and both basilar invagination and impression suffered from numbness in the upper extremities. One 20 –year-old male with type III OI, and all three types of cranial base anomalies, reported basilar headache induced by coughing. He died shortly after of pneumonia. Another male, with type III OI, and all three types of anomalies, underwent decompression surgery and posterior stabilisation at the age of 8 due to Chiari I malformation with a sole clinical symptom of muscle weakness in lower limbs first detected a year prior to surgery. He was the only one receiving treatment for the cranial base pathology (Figure 10). On detection of cranial base pathology, a MR scan and neurological examination were recommended for all patients.

Figure 9 Cranial base measures (in millimetres or degrees) of patients not treated with bisphosphonates, according to OI type. Results include longitudinal follow-up and isolated findings with known radiographic magnification (IV).



58





Age (years)

















**Figure 10** Radiographs of a male with OI type III A) at birth and B-D) at ages 7.5, 8.5, and at 11.7 years. The patient presented with platybasia from birth and developed basilar invagination and impression by 4 years of age. Surgical decompression and posterior fixation was conducted at the age of 8 years due to evolution of Chiari I malformation following the craniocervical anomalies. The patient had been treated with bisphosphonates from the age of 4.5 years. Image D obtained after the surgery was not used in the longitudinal analysis.

### 6. Discussion

#### 6.1. Reliability of observations

The interpretation of radiographs, MR, and CT images invariably comprises some systematic and random errors, which can only be dealt with by repetitive analysis to a certain extent. Evaluation of the effect of the errors is vital for the reliability of observations. The observations made in this investigation suggest that, on average, variation in the location of a single landmark affects little the cranial base measurement values, whilst linear measurements and angles have been shown to be affected by the rotation of the head (Ahlqvist et al. 1986, Malkoc et al. 2005). For this reason, at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, where the majority of the radiographs were obtained, images had been taken with ear rods stabilizing the positioning of the head and minimizing its rotation. Healthy individuals, old enough to stand independently in the cephalostat, and patients with OI, whenever possible, were positioned with the clinical Frankfurt horizontal plane parallel to the floor. Extension and flexion of the head have been shown, in contrast, to leave unaffected the distance of the tip of the odontoid process from the foramen magnum line (McGregor 1948). The cephalometric landmarks used in this study are located on the midsagittal plane, and thus the method is applicable, in addition to radiographs, to CT, and MR images of the same plane. An exception is the lowest point of the occipital curve, which might be visualised differently on a lateral skull radiograph and on MRI (Cronin et al. 2007). The lowest point is sometimes situated lateral to the midsagittal plane and thus is not visible on midline MRI. This can lead to the D-M measure reference line being located more caudally on a plain radiograph, and result in a more positive distance of the odontoid process to the reference line. The general reliability of the observations from a conventional radiograph were reported by Janus and co-workers (2003), who found that in all the studied cases, MRI findings confirmed the suspicion of pathology from a traditional radiograph in growing patients with OI.

In evaluating the reliability of this analysis, the limited size of the control cohort must be considered. Herein, this fact is displayed as a large SD of the age-group results, caused by

interindividual variation. The area under the normal variation curve below +2.5 SD covers 99.4% of all data values. Assuming that the control cohort follows the normal distribution, and the threshold limit of anomaly is set at +2.5 SD from the average, then theoretically 1 in 167 unselected patients without an anomaly would exceed the upper limit and thus receive a false positive diagnosis. A lower threshold limit was used to ensure the sensitivity of the screening, whereas higher limit yields better specificity of the diagnosis. In an adult population, the emphasis may be on limitation of false positive findings, whereas in children it is beneficial to identify all subjects that need closer follow-up.

### 6.2. Radiographic evaluation of cranial base dimensions

In healthy children, the more caudal relative position of the odontoid process (as measured from the tip of the body of the dens) detected below the age of 9 years, is likely to be due to the tip not being yet fully mineralized and fused to the body of the dens, which usually occurs by 12 years (III) (Menezes 2008b).

In assessing basilar impression, the use of Chamberlain's line as a reference has been criticised because of the difficulty in locating the posterior reference point; the opisthion (McGregor 1948). In addition, as pointed out by Kovero and collegues (2006), the hard palate in growing OI patients is likely to be an unstable reference structure. Our study confirms the recommendation of Kovero *et al.* (1996) of the suitability of the D-M measure as a reference line in growing individuals. No statistically significant age-related change in the measure was observed, as is expected from the early stabilisation of the nasion-sella level during growth. Contrary to the findings of Bull and colleagues (1955), age was shown to be a relevant factor in assessing basilar pathology, whereas gender is not. This view is shared by Cronin and co-workers (2007 and 2009), who demonstrated the lack of statistically significant differences, in cranial base measures, between the sexes in healthy adult population.

Diagnosis of basilar pathology is reliably done on an MR or CT scan. Lateral skull radiographs have been recommended as a screening method at individually adjusted intervals. A baseline cephalometric study has been recommended for all patients with OI before school age. (OI-consensus conference, 17-18 November 1999, Sørmarka, Norway)

### 6.3. Natural course of basilar pathology

The findings of this study are in agreement with earlier observations in that the anterior cranial base angle steepens with growth (Kerr and Hirst 1987, George 2005). Similar to the work by George (2005), a statistically significant decrease occurred only before the age of 3 years in healthy subjects. In the cohort of Kerr and Hirst (1987) the anterior cranial base angle was on average 142° at birth and reduced to 130° by 5 years of age. Here, the angle was 137° on average at birth and decreased to 130° by 5 years in healthy subjects. A growth-related steepening was seen, similar to that of healthy individuals, in OI patients. In growing OI population (aged 0-18 years) the anterior cranial base angle has been reported to have a range between 160-175° (Janus *et al.* 2003); however in this study cohort of the same age, the angle was 134° with a range of 94-170° for the whole cohort. McGregor (1948) considered an angle above 148° to be highly suggestive of platybasia in young adults, but the threshold limit was lower in all age groups in this study based on the values of healthy controls.

In the adult OI population, the prevalence figures of basilar pathology differ somewhat from those of growing patients. Basilar invagination has been documented in 22.2% of adults with OI (types I, III, and IV studied) (Kovero *et al.* 2006), however the corresponding figure for growing patients in study III was 4% and in study IV was 13%, when the same threshold value of +3 SD from the average of healthy age-matched controls was applied for both cohorts. In adult OI patients, the prevalence of basilar impression has been reported to be 17% (Kovero *et al.* 2006), whereas here, in growing patients, the prevalence was 6% (study III) and 9.5% (study IV) with the +3 SD threshold

limit. Platybasia was present in 11.1% of adults with OI. Platybasia was seen in 16% of patients in study III and 25.7% in study IV with the +3 SD threshold limit. The difference in the prevalence of cranial base anomaly between studies III and IV might be partly due to different examiners conducting the analyses. Moreover, in study III, the most recent radiograph was examined, whereas in study IV the first available one was selected. The percentage of patients with mild OI type I was similar in both study cohorts, however.

Menezes (2008e) postulated that adolescence is a critical stage for development of craniocervical junction pathology. In most disorders, where craniocervical junction anomaly is a possible complication, it emerges typically during the growth spurt, between 11 and 15 years of age. In patients with OI, the occurrence of cranial base anomalies has been previously observed at all ages from two years onwards (Sillence *et al.* 1993 as cited in Primorac), as was confirmed in this study. Likewise, no association has been found between age and development of scoliosis in growing OI patients (Engelbert *et al.* 1998).

In OI, the thinner cortices cause bone to bow and break easily. This bending of bone and/or microfractures, and/or possibly adaptive changes in the cartilaginous synchondroses, could explain the observed occurence of platybasia from birth. The spheno-occipital synchondrosis appeared exceptionally wide in our material, age considered, in several patients. This finding remains to be analysed in a forthcoming study. Repeated microfractures combined with bending of bone and ligament laxity would explain the reason for craniocervical pathology becoming evident after a child attains an upright posture. A delay in adoption of the upright position has been documented in children with OI. The delay is most evident in the severe forms of the disorder. The mean age of sitting by OI type is 11 months for type I, 19 months for type III, and 10 months for type IV. Similarly standing has been reported to occur on average by 11 months in type I, 40 months in type III, and 16 months in type IV. (Sutton *et al.* 2011)

Chamberlain (1939) suspected a progressive worsening of the craniocervical pathology or a delay in the appearance of symptoms to take place. Progressivity of anomalies was also suspected by Charnas and Marini (1993) and Sillence (1994). We found no statistical evidence of progression nor an age related factor in incidence of abnormality. The only factor associated with occurrence of cranial base anomaly was the clinical severity of OI. Our findings were similar to those of Janus and co-workers (2003), who followed seven patients for 2-6 years with MR scans after an abnormal finding on lateral skull radiograph. They observed no signs of progression in six patients and progression in one. In the same seven patients, anterior cranial base angle increased in follow-up. Despite the anatomical abnormality, neurologic symptoms were not detected. Janus recommends obtaining an image of the cranium when symptoms are present, and suggests that children that have undergone occipitocervical stabilization or decompression surgery should be monitored carefully because growth of the posterior fossa and clivus continue past adolescence and might further alter the relations of the structures of craniocervical junction.

Platybasia did not improve spontaneously in the longitudinal follow-up (III, IV). In contrast, basilar invagination and impression interestingly passed off in some patients. The improvement in McRae measure is likely to occur as a result of growing number of microfractures lowering the posterior fossa leading to upward infolding of the occipital condyles and posterior edge of foramen magnum (Sillence 1994), thus raising McRae's line. The reason for the observed change into a negative value of the D-M measure remains unknown and this development is somewhat contradictory to the previously observed progressive change in skull shape towards overhanging of the occiput (Charnas and Marini 1993).

Severe growth failure was found here to suggest the presence of a craniocervical junction anomaly in OI patients. On the other hand, shortened distance between the skull base and shoulders, as caused by craniocervical abnormality, can in turn partly result in shortened overall height. Careful follow-up of subjects with a low height Z-score, combined with clinically short neck, is thus warranted.

In patients with OI, the mean head circumference is within normal limits but has been reported to increase relative to body height (Lund *et al.* 1999). Charnas and Marini (1993) found that an increase in head circumference followed the normal curve for most patients. In 13 out of 46 patients, however, macrocephaly progressively advanced to reach an average head circumference Z-score of  $2.1 \pm 1.3$ . In 5 out of 76 patients, basilar

impression was discovered without related symptoms. Charnas and Marini (1993) documented basilar impression in all patients with large head circumference. In contrast, Engelbert and co-workers (1998) found no significant relationship between the head circumference Z-score and the presence of basilar impression in 47 paediatric patients. They also found basilar impression to be more commonly associated with kyphosis than with scoliosis. Children with generalized joint hypermobility had a lower incidence of scoliosis. Those children were also less prone to develop basilar impression. Engelbert speculated that microfractures of the vertebrae are the cause of spinal complications in patients with OI. Contrary to this view, laxity of spinal ligaments, thus vertebral instability, has been proposed to underlie progressive spinal curvature (Benson and Newman 1981, Hanscom et al. 1992). Scoliosis is a rare finding in patients with OI under the age of five, and is more common in the more severe forms of OI (Benson and Newman 1981). In evaluating scoliosis, change in sitting height is compared with angular spinal changes (Dimeglio 2001). Scoliosis has been previously noted to naturally progress at an individual rate in growing patients with OI without treatment (Hanscom et al. 1992). Hanscom and co-workers (1992) observed a partial loss of straightening, achieved in an arthrodesis operation, during a follow-up period. Of the 17 out of 56 patients with scoliosis, 11 also had craniocervical pathology, but association between these two could not be statistically shown (Hanscom et al. 1992).

Sillence (1994) recommends radiological screening of the cranial base in type I OI, at 3 to 5 year intervals, until skeletal maturity, after which no follow-up is needed if the findings are normal. In types III and IV, he suggests screening at 2 to 3 year intervals. Initial screening at the age of 5 years is recommended in severe forms. If no pathology is detected, a follow-up based on clinical symptoms is enough. Sillence also recommends delaying the upright position of a child. Notably his study reports a smaller frequency of neurologic symptoms than pathologic findings in radiographs or CT images. Based on our findings, we confirm that radiological analysis of cranial base dimensions with measurements described should be carried out for all patients before school age. In severely affected children, a radiograph or MR image is often taken already in infancy to facilitate diagnosis and classification of OI, and should be subjected to analysis of craniocervical junction. In case of normal findings from the image(s) taken before school

age, further imaging is unnecessary in symptomless patients to retain the patient radiation dose at a minimum. In the cases of abnormal findings in a radiograph and MR image, an individually adjusted plan for follow-up and treatment is warranted (Figure 11).





## 7. Conclusions

The radiographic analysis methods used here are applicable for screening of basilar pathology. By analysing lateral radiographs of the midsagittal plane, the variation in anatomic landmark location was found to lead to differences in numeric evaluation of the anatomic relationships of the cranial base and craniocervical junction. These differences were, however, shown to have little clinical significance. (I)

Of the commonly used measurements in evaluating basilar pathology, the McGregor measure was the least sensitive to errors in landmark identification. The McGregor measure is, however, significantly age dependent and thus not as suited to paediatric subjects as the least age sensitive measure, D-M distance (II). In patients with OI, D-M distance was confirmed to be a more sensitive indicator of basilar impression than the Chamberlain or McGregor measures (III). The novel D-M angle measure is unaffected by radiographic magnification and has high correlation with D-M distance, which further increases the superiority of D-M angle in evaluating basilar impression (IV).

The vertical dimensions of the craniocervical junction and the flexion of the anterior skull base change in healthy individuals during growth. Consequently the normal values for the cranial base measures are age dependent. Notable individual variation in measures during growth may appear. Our findings indicate that in 5–6-year-old children, the cranial base measurements are significantly different from older age groups, and studies on patients younger than 9 should be provided with age-appropriate controls. (II) We provide reference values for growing individuals (II, IV).

A notable deviation from the normal values is suggestive of pathological development and indicates a need for further examination. Cranial base anomalies were present in 22% of OI patients in the cohort of study III and 32% of the patient cohort in study IV, as assessed by the limit of pathology set at 3 SD above the values of healthy age-matched controls. Platybasia was the most frequent finding. (III, IV) Detection of platybasia from birth suggests intrauterine development, whereas basilar impression and invagination were

detected from the age of 2 years onwards (IV). Platybasia had a tendency to persist, whereas the natural course of basilar invagination and impression showed more variation.

Severely affected OI patients with very short stature are at the highest risk of developing cranial base anomalies (III, IV). We did not find evidence for progression of the pathology or for a protective effect of bisphosphonate treatment (III, IV). These findings favour the hypothesis that other than bony structures –skull base cartilage and craniocervical junction ligaments– might be involved in the development of these pathological conditions, in addition to changes in bones.

Early recognition of cranial base anomalies, and implementation of treatment is important before irreversible neurological defects arise. Based on the findings of this thesis, radiological analysis of cranial base dimensions with measurements described should be carried out for all patients before school age. In the case of normal findings from the initial image(s), further imaging is unnecessary in symptomless patients. Where abnormal findings in a radiograph or MR image are evident, an individually adjusted plan for follow-up and treatment is warranted.

# 8. Clinical recommendations and future considerations

The following clinical recommendations are proposed based on this study:

- o Basilar pathology should be suspected in patients with OI and a low height Z-score.
- When assessing basilar anomalies, age-matched controls should be used with patients under 9 years of age.
- Basilar invagination is feasibly diagnosed with the McRae measure, basilar impression with D-M angle, and platybasia by measuring the anterior cranial base angle.
- The outline of suggested clinical management with imaging is presented (Figure 11).

With bisphosphonates becoming the treatment of choice from a young age, the natural course of development of cranial base anomalies in patients with OI may be lost, assuming that changes in bony structures bear a considerable responsibility for the development of the pathology. Future prospects certainly include studies on the effects of bisphosphonates on cranial base anomalies. Bisphosphonates are unlikely to reduce the prevalence of early onset platybasia, and do not directly affect the ligaments constituting an essential part of the junction. The increased stiffness of bone caused by bisphosphonates might even increase the prevalence of platybasia due to microfractures as the brain grows in volume. The favourable effects of bisphosphonate treatment on infants with severe forms of OI might lead to an adoption of an upright position earlier and as a result the weight of the cranium compressing the cervical spine earlier in growth.

The natural course of cranial base anomalies in other connective tissue disorders besides OI should also be examined. This study can serve as a benchmark for future studies.
## 9. Acknowledgements

These studies were carried out at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, and at the Children's Hospital, Helsinki University Central Hospital, during the years 2006-2012. I acknowledge the Finnish Dental Foundation, the Orthodontic Section of the Finnish Dental Society Apollonia, the Finnish Association of Women Dentists, and the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation for their financial support.

I express my appreciation to all the individuals, families, and patients participating in these studies, and making this thesis possible. I am most grateful to all the people who contributed to my work, especially:

Professor David Rice, Head of the Department of Orthodontics for providing support and research facilities. His enthusiasm for research is very contagious.

Foremost, my brilliant supervisors docent Janna Waltimo-Sirén and docent Outi Mäkitie are offered my sincerest gratitude. Janna Waltimo-Sirén first introduced me to this topic of research and patiently taught me the principles of scientific work and writing. Her astonishing commitment to supervising, has meant hours of teaching, working on the manuscripts with me until late hours of Sunday evenings at home, and at times taking turns holding my crying baby while discussing work. Outi Mäkitie has been my source of inspiration throughout this process. Her competence and expertize in the field of paediatric bone diseases is expressed in her positive encouragement, guidance, and enthusiasm, that has helped me enormously both on academic and personal level.

All the co-authors of the original publications receive my warmest appreciation for their valuable collaboration. I am especially grateful for docent Jari Haukka for his statistical assistance.

The official reviewers docent Tuomo Heikkinen and docent Jarmo Jääskeläinen deserve my deepest gratitude for their constructive comments and careful review, which have helped me to improve the manuscript. Dr. Jennifer Rowland is heartily acknowledged for the skilful linguistic editing of this thesis, and for delivering her work to my home to help me stay on schedule. I thank Nea Boman and Raila Jalomeri for their secretarial assistance.

A warm thank you for my colleagues in the orthodontic team of Espoo for the supportive atmosphere they have created, and for sharing the busy last days of thesis-writing period in unconventional surroundings. I also express my sincere gratitude to all my teachers and fellow students during my speciality training, and to the PhD students of Outi Mäkitie for their friendship.

This dissertation would not have been possible without my precious family members and friends. I thank my parents and mother-in-law for their invaluable help in our everyday life. My parents Leila and Pekka have always believed in me and taught me that success only follows hard work. My brothers and sister-in-law have provided me with extra curricular activities, and given me moral support with their inspirational slogans concerning every aspect of life.

Above all, I am grateful to my awesome husband Antti, who has taken good care of our family throughout these years in addition to being my IT help desk. I thank him for his unfailing love and support. My deepest gratitude is to Melissa, who is the joy of my life.

Espoo, May 9<sup>th</sup> 2012

Heídí Arponen

*Try not to become a man of success but rather to become a man of value.* Albert Einstein (1879 - 1955)

## 10. References

- Aarden EM, Burger EH, Nijweide PJ 1994 Function of osteocytes in bone. J Cell Biochem 55:287-299.
- Ackermann JF 1970 Über die Kretinen, eine besondere Menschenabart in den Alpen. Gotha. Ettingersche Buchhandlung.
- Ahlqvist J, Eliasson S, Welander U 1986 The effect of projection errors on cephalometric length measurements. Eur J Orthod 8:141-148.
- Alanay Y, Avaygan H, Camacho N, Utine GE, Boduroglu K, Aktas D, Alikasifoglu M, Tuncbilek E, Orhan D, Bakar FT, Zabel B, Superti-Furga A, Bruckner-Tuderman L, Curry CJ, Pyott S, Byers PH, Eyre DR, Baldridge D, Lee B, Merrill AE, Davis EC, Cohn DH, Akarsu N, Krakow D 2010 Mutations in the gene encoding the RER protein FKBP65 cause autosomal recessive osteognesis imperfecta. Am J Hum Genet 86:551-559.
- Andersen PE, Hauge M 1989 Osteogenesis imperfecta: a genetic, radiological, and epidemiological study. Clin Genet 36:250-255.
- Asharani PV, Keupp K, Semler O, Wang W, Li Y, Thiele H, Yigit G, Pohl E, Becker J, Frommolt P, Sonntag C, Altmüller J, Zimmermann K, Greenspan DS, Akarsu NA, Netzer C, Schönau E, Wirth R, Hammerschmidt M, Nürnberg P, Wollnik B, Carney TJ 2012 Attenuated BMP1 Function Compromises Osteogenesis, Leading to Bone Fragility in Humans and Zebrafish. Am J Hum Genet 90:661-674.

- Bala Y, Depalle B, Douillard T, Meille S, Clément P, Follet H, Chevalier J, Boivin G 2011 Respective roles of organic and mineral components of human cortical bone matrix in micromechanical behavior: an instrumented indentation study. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 4:1473-1482.
- Baldridge D, Schwarze U, Morello R, Lennington J, Bertin TK, Pace JM, Pepin MG, Weis M, Eyre DR, Walsh J, Lambert D, Green A, Robinson H, Michelson M, Houge G, Lindman C, Martin J, Ward J, Lemyre E, Mitchell JJ, Krakow D, Rimoin DL, Cohn DH, Byers PH, Lee B 2008 CRTAP and LEPRE1 mutations in recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Hum Mutat 29:1435-1442.
- Barnes AM, Chang W, Morello R, Cabral WA, Weis M, Eyre DR, Leikin S, Makareeva E, Kuznetsova N, Uveges TE, Ashok A, Flor AW, Mulvihill JJ, Wilson PL, Sundaram UT, Lee B, Marini JC 2006 Deficiency of cartilage-associated protein in recessive lethal osteogenesis imperfecta. N Engl J Med 28:2757-2764.
- Basel D, Steiner RD 2009 Osteogenesis imperfect: Recent findings shed new light on this once well-understood condition. Genetics in Medicine 11:375-385.
- Benson DR, Newman DC 1981 The spine and surgical treatment in osteogenesis imperfecta. Clin Orthop Relat Res 159:147-153.
- Björk A 1955 Facial growth in man, studied with the aid of metallic implants. Acta Odonotlogica Scandinavica 13:9-34.
- Bodian DL, Madhan B, Brodsky B, Klein TE 2008 Predicting the clinical lethality of osteogenesis imperfecta from collagen glycine mutations. Biochemistry 47:5424-5432.

- Bishop N, Harrison R, Ahmed F, Shaw N, Eastell R, Campbell M, Knowles E, Hill C, Hall C, Chapman S, Sprigg A, Rigby A 2010 A randomized, controlled dose-ranging study of risedronate in children with moderate and severe Osteogenesis imperfecta. J Bone Min Res 25:32-40.
- Bishop N 2010 Characterising and treating osteogenesis imperfecta. Early Human Development 86:743-746.
- Bosma JF 1976 Development of the basicranium. Symposium on the development of the basicranium. Bethesda. Maryland: National Institutes of Health, pp.29-43,192-205.
- Boyde A, Travers R, Glorieux FH, Jones SI 1999 The mineralization density of iliac crest bone from children with Osteogenesis imperfecta. Calcified Tissue International 64:185-190.
- Buday K 1895 Beiträge zur Lehre von der Osteogenesis imperfecta. (publisher unknown)
- Bull J, Nixon W, Pratt R 1955 The radiological criteria and familial occurrence of primary basilar impression. Brain 78:229–247.

Burgeson RE 1988 New collagens, new concepts. Ann Rev Cell Biol 4:551-577.

- Byers PH, Wallis GA, Willing MC 1991 Osteogenesis imperfecta: translation of mutation to phenotype. J Med Genet 28:433-442.
- Cabral W, Fratzl-Zelman N, Roschger P, Klaushofer K, Boskey AL, Marini JC. 2011 Cellular Dysregulation of Gene Expression May Contribute to Matrix Hypermineralization in Osteogenesis Imperfecta. Proceedings of 11th International congress on Osteogenesis imperfecta 2-5.10.2011 Dubrovnik, Croatia.

- Canalis E, McCarthy T, M Centrella M 1988 Growth factors and the regulation of bone remodelling. J Clin Invest 81:277–281.
- Chamberlain WE 1939 Basilar impression (Platybasia): a bizarre developmental anomaly of the occipital bone and upper cervical spine with striking and misleading neurologic manifestations. Yale J Biol and Med 11:487-496.
- Charnas LR, Marini JC 1993 Communicating hydrocephalus, basilar invagination, and other neurologic features in Osteogenesis imperfecta. Neurology 43:2603-2608.
- Cheung MS, Azouz EM, Glorieux FH, Rauch F 2008 Hyperplastic callus formation in osteogenesis imperfecta type V: follow-up of three generations over ten years. Skeletal Radiol 37:465-467.
- Christiansen HE, Schwarze U, Pyott SM, AlSwaid A, Al Balwi M, Alrasheed S, Pepin MG, Weis MA, Eyre DR, Byers PH 2010 Homozygosity for a missense mutation in SERPINH1, which encodes the collagen chaperone protein HSP47, results in severe recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Am J Hum Genet 12:389-398.
- Cobourne MT 2000 Construction for the modern head: current concepts in craniofacial development. J Orthod 27:307-314.
- Çokluk C, Aydın K, Rakunt C, Iyigun O, Onder A 2006 The borders of the odontoid process of c2 in adults and in children including the estimation of odontoid/body ratio. Eur Spine J 15:278-282.
- Cremin B, Goodman H, Spranger J, Beighton P 1982 Wormian bones in osteogenesis imperfecta and other disorders. Skeletal Radiol 8:35-38.

- Cronin C G, Lohan D G, Mhuircheartigh J N, Meehan C P, Murphy J M, Roche C 2007 MRI evaluation and measurement of the normal odontoid peg position. Clin Radiol 62:897-903.
- Cronin C G, Lohan D G, Mhuircheartigh J N, Meehan C P, Murphy J M, Roche C 2009 CT evaluation of Chamberlain's, McGregor's, and McRae's skull-base lines. Clinical Radiology 64:64-69.
- Dahlberg G 1940 Statistical methods for medical and biological students. New York: Interscience Publications.
- Dalgleish R 1997 The human type I collagen mutation database. Nucleic Acids Res 25: 181-187.
- Dalgleish R 1998 The human collagen mutation database 1998. Nucleic Acids Res 26: 253-255.
- Datta HK, Ng WF, Walker JA, Tuck SP, Varanasi SS 2008 The cell biology of bone metabolism. Review. J Clin Pathol 61:577-587.

Dimeglio A 2001 Growth in pediatric orthopaedics. J Pediatr Orthop 21:549-555.

- Edouard T, Glorieux FH, Rauch F 2011 Relationship between Vitamin D Status and Bone Mineralization, Mass and Metabolism in Children With Osteogenesis Imperfecta: Histomorphometric Study. J Bone Miner Res 26:2245-514.
- Engel J, Prockop DJ 1991 The Zipper-Like Folding of Collagen Triple Helices and the Effects of Mutations that Disrupt the Zipper. Annu Rev Biophys Biophys Chem 20:137-152.

- Engelbert RHH, Gerver WJM, Breslau-Siderius LJ, van der Graaf Y, Pruijs HEH, van Doorne JM, Beemer FA, Helders PJM 1998 Spinal complications in osteogenesis imperfecta. Acta Orthop Scand 69:283-286.
- Enlow DH, Azuma M 1975 Functional growth boundaries in the human and mammalian face. Birth Defects Orig Artic Ser 11:217-30.
- Falvo KA, Root L, Bullough PG 1974 Osteogenesis imperfecta: clinical evaluation and management. J Bone and Joint Surg 56-A:783-793.
- Fassier AM, Rauch F, Aarabi M, Janelle C, Fassier F 2007 Radial head dislocation and subluxation in osteogenesis imperfecta. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89:2694-2704.
- Frank E, Berger T, Tew JM 1982 Basilar impression and platybasia in osteogenesis imperfecta tarda. Surgical Neurology 17:116-119.
- Forlino A, Cabral WA, Barnes AM, Marini JC 2011 New perspectives on osteogenesis imperfecta. Nat Rev Endocrinol 14:540-557.
- George SL 2005 A longitudinal and cross-sectional analysis of the growth of the postnatal cranial base angle. Am J Physical Anthropology 49:171-178.
- Gilbert SF 2010 Developmental Biology. 9th edition. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates, pp.428-432.
- Glass RBJ, Fernbach SK, Norton KI, Choi PS, Naidich TP 2004 The infant skull: a vault of information. RadioGraphics 24:507-522.

- Glorieux FH, Bishop NJ, Plotkin H, Chabot G, Lanoue G, Travers R 1998 Cyclic administration of pamidronate in children with severe osteogenesis imperfecta. N Engl J Med 339:947-52.
- Glorieux FH, Rauch F, Plotkin H, Ward L, Travers R, Roughley P, Lalic L, Glorieux DF, Fassier F, Bishop NJ 2000 Type V Osteogenesis Imperfecta: A New Form of Brittle Bone Disease. J Bone Miner Res 15:1650-1658.
- Gloriex FH 2008 Osteogenesis imperfecta. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 22:85-100.
- Gholve PA, Hosalkar HS, Ricchetti ET, Pollock AN, Dormans JP, Drummond DS 2007 Occipitalization of the atlas in children. Morphologic classification, associations, and clinical relevance. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89:571-578.
- Goodrich JT 2005 Skull base growth in craniosynostosis. Child's Nervous System 21:871-879.
- Grahame R 1999 Joint hypermobility and genetic collagen disorders: are they related? Arch Dis Child 80:188-191.
- Hanscom DA, Winter RB, Lutter L, Lonstein JE, Bloom BA, Bradford DS 1992 Osteogenesis imperfecta. Radiographic classification, natural history, and treatment of spinal deformities. J Bone Joint Surg 74:598-616.
- Hayes M, Parker G, Ell J, Sillence D 1999 Basilar impression complicating osteogenesis imperfecta type IV: the clinical and neurological findings in four cases. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 66:357-364.
- Harrison GA, Weiner JS, Tanner JM, Barnicot NA 1977 Human biology. Oxford; Oxford University Press, p.357.

- Hinck VC, Hopkins CE. Savara BS 1961 Diagnostic criteria of basilar impression. Radiology 76:572-585.
- Homan EP, Rauch F, Grafe I, Lietman C, Doll JA, Dawson B, Bertin T, Napierala D, Morello R, Gibbs R, White L, Miki R, Cohn DH, Crawford S, Travers R, Glorieux FH, Lee B 2011 Mutations in SERPINF1 Cause Osteogenesis Imperfecta Type VI. J Bone Miner Res 26:2798-2803.
- Hortop J, Tsipouras P, Hanley JA, Maron BJ, Shapiro JR 1986 Cardiovascular involvement in osteogenesis imperfecta. Circulation 73:54-61.
- Huber MA 2007 Osteogenesis imperfecta. Oral surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontol 3:314-320.
- Huggare J, Kantomaa T, Serlo W, Rönning O 1989 Craniofacial morphology in untreated shunt-treated hydrocephalic children. Acta Neurochir 97:107-110.
- Ibrahim AG, Crockard HA 2007 Basilar impression and osteogenesis imperfecta: a 21year retrospective review of outcomes in 20 patients. J Neurosurg Spine 7:594-600.
- Ishikawa S, Jay S, Takahashi H, Homma M 1996 Vertebral Body Shape as a Predictor of Spinal Deformity in Osteogenesis Imperfecta J Bone Joint Surg 78A:212-219.
- Janus GJ, Engelbert RH, Beek E, Gooskens RH, Pruijs JE 2003 Osteogenesis imperfecta in childhood: MR imaging of basilar impression. Eur J Radiol 47:19-24.
- Jensen BL, Lund AM 1997 Osteogenesis imperfecta: clinical, cephalometric, and biochemical investigations of OI types I, III, and IV. J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol 17:121-132.

- Jepsen KJ, Schaffler MB, Kuhn JL, Goulet RW, Bonadio J, Goldstein SA 1997 Type I collagen mutation alters the strength and fatigue behavior of Mov13 cortical tissue. J Biomech 30:1141-1147.
- Kelley BP, Malfait F, Bonafe L, Baldridge D, Homan E, Symoens S, Willaert A, Elcioglu N, Van Maldergem L, Verellen-Dumoulin C, Gillerot Y, Napierala D, Krakow D, Beighton P, Superti-Furga A, De Paepe A, Lee B 2011 Mutations in FKBP10 cause recessive osteogenesis imperfecta and Bruck syndrome. J Bone Miner Res 26:666-672.
- Kerr WJ, Hirst D 1987 Craniofacial characteristics of subjects with normal and postnormal occlusions-a longitudinal study. Am J orthod Dentofac Orthop 92:207-212.
- King JD, and Bobechko WP 1971 Osteogenesis imperfecta. An orthopaedic description and surgical review. J Bone Joint Surg Am 53B:72–85.
- Kocher MS, Shapiro F 1998 Osteogenesis imperfecta. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 6:225-236.
- Kovero O, Pynnonen S, Kuurila-Svahn K, Kaitila I, Waltimo-Sirén J 2006 Skull base abnormalities in osteogenesis imperfecta: a cephalometric evaluation of 54 patients and 108 control volunteers. J Neurosurg 105:361-370.
- Kurimoto M, Ohara S, Takaku A 1991 Basilar impression in osteogenesis imperfecta tarda. J Neurosurg 74:136-138.
- Kuurila K, Grenman R, Johansson R, Kaitila I 2000 Hearing loss in children with Osteogenesis imperecta. Eur J Pediatr 159:515-519.
- Kuurila K, Kaitila I, Johansson R, Grénman R 2002 Hearing loss in Finnish adults with osteogenesis imperfecta: a Nationwide survey. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 111:939-946.

- Kuurila K, Kentala E, Karjalainen S, Pynnönen S, Kovero O, Kaitila I, Grénman R, Waltimo J 2003 Vestibular dysfunction in adult patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. Am J Med Genet 120A:350-358.
- Kylämarkkula S, Huggare J 1985 Head posture and the morphology of the first cervical vertebra. Eur J Orthod 7:151-156.
- Lapunzina P, Aglan M, Temtamy S, Caparrós-Martín JA, Valencia M, Letón R, Martínez-Glez V, Elhossini R, Amr K, Vilaboa N, Ruiz-Perez VL 2010 Identification of a frameshift mutation in Osterix in a patient with recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Am J Hum Genet 87:110-114.
- Leucht P, Kim JB, Amasha R, James AW, Girod S, Helms JA 2008 Embryonic origin and Hox status determine progenitor cell fate during adult bone regeneration. Development 135:2845-2854.
- Li HY, Fang TJ, Lin JL, Lee ZL, Lee LA 2002 Laryngomalacia causing sleep apnea in an Osteogenesis imperfecta patient. Am J Otolaryngology 23:378-381.
- Lodish H, Berk A, Zipursky L, Matsudaira P, Baltimore D, Darnell J 2000 Molecular Cell Biology, 4th edition. New York: W. H. Freeman.
- Lovell WW, Winter RB, Morrissy RT, Weinstein SL 2006 Lovell and Winter's pediatric orthopaedics. 6th edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Lukinmaa PL, Ranta H, Ranta K, Kaitila I, Hietanen J 1987 Dental findings in Osteogenesis imperfecta: II. Dysplastic and other developmental defects. J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol 7:127-135.

- Lund AM, Müller J, Skovby F 1999 Anthropometry of patients with osteogenesis imperfect. Archives of Disease in Childhood 80:524–528.
- Luyendijk W, Matricali B, Thomeer R T 1978 Basilar impression in an achondroplastic dwarf: causative role in tetraparesis. Acta Neurochir 41:243-253.
- Mackie EJ, Tatarczuch L, Mirams M 2011 The skeleton: a multi-functional complex organ: the growth plate chondrocyte and endochondral ossification. J Endocrinol 211:109-121.
- Malkoc S, Sari Z, Usumez S, Koyuturk AE 2005 The effect of head rotation on cephalometric radiographs. Eur J Orthod 27:315-321.
- Malmgren B, Norgren S 2002 Dental aberrations in children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta. Acta Odontol Scand 60:65-71.
- Marini JC, Bordenick S, Heavner G, Rose S, Hintz R, Rosenfeld R, Chrousos GP 1993 The growth hormone and somatomedin axis in short children with osteogenesis imperfecta. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 76:251–256.
- Marini JC, Cabral WA, Barnes AM 2010 Null mutations in LEPRE1 and CRTAP cause severe recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Cell Tissue Res 339:59-70.
- Martínez-Glez V, Valencia M, Caparrós-Martín JA, Aglan M, Temtamy S, Tenorio J, Pulido V, Lindert U, Rohrbach M, Eyre D, Giunta C, Lapunzina P, Ruiz-Perez VL 2012 Identification of a mutation causing deficient BMP1/mTLD proteolytic activity in autosomal recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. Hum Mutat 33:343-350.

- Matsuoka T, Ahlberg PE, Kessaris N, Iannarelli P, Dennehy U, Richardson WD, McMahon AP, Koentges G 2005 Neural Crest Origins of the Neck and Shoulder. Nature 436:347-355.
- McAllion SJ, Paterson CR 1996 Causes of death in osteogenesis imperfecta. J Clin Pathol 49:627-630.
- McGregor M 1948 The significance of certain measurements of the skull in the diagnosis of basilar impression. Br J Radiol 21:171-181.
- McRae DL 1953 Bony abnormalities in the region of the foramen magnum: correlation of the anatomic and neurologic findings. Acta Radiol 40:335–354.
- Menezes AH 1997 Craniovertebral junction anomalies: diagnosis and management. Semin Pediatr Neurol 4:209-223.
- Menezes AH 1998 Embryology, development and classification of disorders of the craniocervical junction, in Dickman CA, Sonntag VKH, Spetzler (eds): Surgery of the Craniovertebral Junction. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, pp.3-12.
- Menezes A 1999 Pathogenesis, dynamics, and management of os odontoideum. Neurosurg Focus 15:e2.
- Menezes AH 2005 Craniocervical development anatomy and its implications. Clin Neurosurg 52:53-64.
- Menezes AH 2008a Anatomy and biomechanics of normal craniovertebral junction (a) and biomechanics of stabilization (b). Childs Nerv Syst 24:1091-1100.

- Menezes AH 2008b Craniocervical developmental anatomy and its implications. Childs Nerv Syst 24:1109-1122.
- Menezes AH 2008c Craniovertebral junction database analysis: incidence, classification, presentation, and treatment algorithms. Childs Nerv Syst 24:1101-1108.

Menezes AH 2008d Decision making. Childs Nerv Syst 24:1147-1153.

- Menezes A H 2008e Specific entities affecting the craniocervical region. Childs Nerv Syst 24:1169-1172.
- Milhorat TH, Bolognese PA, Nishikawa M, McDonnell NB, Francomano CA 2007 Syndrome of occipitoatlantoaxial hypermobility, cranial settling, and chiari malformation type I in patients with hereditary disorders of connective tissue. J Neurosurg Spine 7:601-609.
- Monti E, Mottes M, Fraschini P, Brunelli P, Forlino A, Venturi G, Doro F, Perlini S, Cavarzere P, Antoniazzi F 2010 Current and emerging treatments for the management of osteogenesis imperfecta. Review. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 6:367-381.
- Moss ML 1997 The functional matrix hypothesis revisited 1-4. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 112:8-11,221-226,338-342,410-417.
- Niyibizi C, Eyre DR 1989 Bone Type V Collagen: Chain Composition and Location of a Trypsin Cleavage Site. Connective Tissue Research 20:247-250.
- Norimatsu H, Mayuzumi T, Takahashi H 1982 The development of the spinal deformities in osteogenesis imperfecta. Clin Orthop 162:20-25.

Norio R Finnish Disease Heritage I-III 2003 Human Genetics 112:441-526.

- O'Connell AC, Marini JC 1999 Evaluation of oral problems in an osteogenesis imperfecta population. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 87:189-196.
- Ogden JA 1984 Radiology of postnatal skeletal development. Skeletal radiology 12:169-177.
- Pang D, Thompson DNP 2011 Embryology and bony malformations of the craniovertebral junction. Childs Nerv Syst 27:523–564.
- Paterson CR, Burns J, McAllion SJ 1993 Osteogenesis imperfecta: The distinction from child abuse and the recognition of a variant form American Journal of Medical Genetics 45:187–192.

Pearce J M S 2007 Platybasia and basilar invagination. Eur Neurol 58:62-64.

Perlyn CA, Marsh JL, Pilgram TK, Kane A 2001 Plasticity of the endocranial base in nonsyndromic craniosynostosis. Plast Reconstr Surg 108:294-301.

- Phillipi CA, Remmington T, Steiner RD 2008 Bisphosphonate therapy for osteogenesis imperfecta. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD005088.
- Piatt JH, Grissom LE 2011 Developmental anatomy of the atlas and axis in childhood by computed tomography. J Neurosurg Pediatrics 8:235-243.
- Plotkin H, Rauch F, Bishop NJ, Montpetit K, Ruck-Gibis J, Travers R Glorieux FH 2000 Pamidronate treatment of severe osteogenesis imperfecta in children under three years of age. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1846-1850.

- Primorac D, Rowe D, Mottes M, Barisic I, Anticevic D, Mirandola S, Gomez Lira M, Kalajzic I, Kusec V, Glorieux F 2001 Osteogenesis imperfecta at the beginning of bone and joint decade. Croatian Medical J 42:393-415.
- Rauch F, Travers R, Parfitt AM, Glorieux FH 2000 Static and dynamic bone histomorphometry in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Bone 26:581-589.
- Rauch F, Glorieux FH 2004 Osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet 2:1377-1385.
- Rauch F, Travers R, Glorieux FH 2006 Pamidronate in children with Osteogenesis imperfecta: histomorphometric effects of long-term therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:511-516.
- Rauch F, Lalic L, Roughley P, Glorieux FH 2010 Relationship between genotype and skeletal phenotype in children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta. J Bone Miner Res 25:1367-1374.
- Rice DP, Rice R, Thesleff I 2003 Fgfr mRNA isoforms in craniofacial bone development. Bone 33:14-27.
- Roughley PJ, Rauch F, Glorieux FH 2003 Osteogenesis imperfecta –clinical and molecular diversity. Eur Cells Materials 5:41-47.
- Rush PJ, Berbrayer D, Reilly BJ 1989 Basilar impression and osteogenesis imperfecta in a three-year-old girl: CT and MRI. Pediatr Radiol 19:142-143.
- Sanguinetti C, Greco F, De Palma L, Specchia N, Falciglia F 1990 Morphological changes in growth-plate cartilage in osteogenesis imperfecta. J Bone Joint Surg Br 72:475–479.

- Sawin PD, Menezes AH 1997 Basilar invagination in osteogenesis imperfecta and related osteochondro dysplasias: medical and surgical management. J Neurosurg 86:950-960.
- Schaffler MB, Alson MD, Heller JG, Garfin SR 1992 Morphology of the dens. A quantitative study. Spine 17:738-743.
- Schoenwolf GC, Bleyl SB, Brauer PR, Francis-West PH 2009 Larsen's Human Embryology. 4th edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier, pp.282-283, 547-548.
- Seeman E, Delmas PD 2006 Bone quality –The material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med 354:2250-2261.
- Semler O, Beccard R, Palmisano D, Demant A, Fricke O, Schoenau E, Koerber F 2011 Reshaping of vertebrae during treatment with neridronate or pamidronate in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Horm Res Paediatr 76:321-327.
- Shapiro R, Robinson F 1976 Embryogenesis of the human occipital bone. AJR Am J Roentgenol 126:1063-1068.
- Shi S, Kirk M, Kahn AJ 1996 The role of type I collagen in the regulation of the osteoblast phenotype. J Bone Miner Res 11:1139-1145.
- Shirley NR, Jantz RL 2011 Spheno-Occipital Synchondrosis Fusion in Modern Americans. J Forensic Sci 56:580-585.
- Sillence DO, Rimoin DL 1978 Classification of osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet 1:1041-1042.
- Sillence DO, Rimoin DL, Danks DM 1979a Clinical variability in osteogenesis imperfecta-variable expressivity or genetic heterogeneity. Birth Defects 15:113-129.

- Sillence DO, Senn A, Danks DM 1979b Genetic heterogeneity in osteogenesis imperfecta. J Med Genet 16:101-116.
- Sillence DO, Wilson M, Morley K, Onikul E, Kozlowski K, Ell J 1993 Basilar impression complicating osteogenesis imperfecta: natural history and correlation with OI type. In: Proceedings of the Fifth international Conference on Osteogenesis imperfecta. Sep 27-30; Oxford, UK. pp.139-141 as cited in Primorac D, Rowe D, Mottes M, Barisic I, Anticevic D, Mirandola S, Gomez Lira M, Kalajzic I, Kusec V, Glorieux F 2001 Osteogenesis imperfecta at the beginning of bone and joint decade. Croatian Medical J 42:393-415.
- Sillence DO 1994 Craniocervical abnormalities in osteogenesis imperfecta: genetic and molecular correlation. Pediatr Radiol 24:427-430.
- Smoker WRK 1994 Craniocervical junction: Normal anatomy, craniometry, and congenital anomalies. RadioGraphics 14:255-277.
- Smoker W, Khanna G 2008 Imaging the craniocervical junction. Childs Nerv Syst 24:1123–1145.
- Singer RB, Ogston SA, Paterson CR 2001 Mortality in various types of osteogenesis imperfecta. J Insur Med 33:216-220.
- Smith JS, Shaffrey CI, Abel MF, Menezes AH 2010 Basilar invagination. Neurosurg 66:39-47.
- Solow B, Siersbaek-Nielsen S 1992 Cervical and craniocervical posture as predictors of craniofacial growth. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 101:449-458.

- Spranger J, Benirschke K, Hall JG, Lenz W, Lowry RB, Opitz JM, Pinsky L, Schwaracher HG, Smith DW 1982 Errors of morphogenesis: Concepts and terms. J Paediatr 100:160-165.
- Sutton R, Byers P, Hart T, Glorieux FH, Steiner RJ, Smith P, Shapiro J, Lee BH, Krischer JP 2011 The OI Foundation Linked Clinical Research Centers Longitudinal Study. Proceedings of the 11th International congress on osteogenesis imperfecta 2011 2.5.10.2011 Dubrovnik, Croatia.
- Stokes IAF, Windisch L 2006 Vertebral height growth predominates over intervertebral disc height growth in adolescents with scoliosis. Spine 31:1600-1604.
- Stoll C, Dott B, Roth MP, Alembik Y 1989 Birth prevalence rates of skeletal dysplasias. Clin Genet 35:88-92.
- Tassanawipas A, Mokkhavesa S, Chatchavong S, Worawittayawong P 2005 Magnetic resonance imaging study of the craniocervical junction. J Orthopaedic Surg 13:228-231.
- Thiebaut F, Wackenheim A, Vrousos C 1961 New median sagittal pneumostratigraphical findings concering the posterior fossa. J Radiol Electrol 42:1-7.
- Tubbs RS, Hallock JD, Radcliff V, Naftel RP, Mortazavi M, Shoja MM, Loukas M, Cohen-Gadol AA 2011 Ligaments of the craniocervical junction. J Neurosurg Spine 14:697-709.
- Uno K, Kataoka O, Shiba R 1996 Occipitoatlantal and occipitoaxial hypermobility in Down syndrome. Spine 15:1430-1434.

- Van Dijk FS, Nesbitt IM, Zwikstra EH, Nikkels PG, Piersma SR, Fratantoni SA, Jimenez CR, Huizer M, Morsman AC, Cobben JM, van Roij MH, Elting MW, Verbeke JI, Wijnaendts LC, Shaw NJ, Högler W, McKeown C, Sistermans EA, Dalton A, Meijers-Heijboer H, Pals G 2009 PPIB mutations cause severe osteogenesis imperfecta. Am J Hum Genet 85:521-527.
- Van Dijk FS, Pals G, Van Rijn RR, Nikkels PG, Cobben JM 2010 Classification of Osteogenesis Imperfecta revisited. Eur J Med Genet 53:1-5.
- Venturi G, Gandini A, Monti E, Dalle Carbonare L, Corradi M, Vincenzi M, Valenti MT, Valli M, Pelilli E, Boner A, Mottes M, Antoniazzi F 2012 Lack of expression of SERPINF1, the gene coding for pigment epithelium-derived factor causes progressively deforming osteogenesis imperfecta with normal type I collagen. J Bone Miner Res 27: 723–728.
- Viguet-Carrin S, Garnero P, Delmas PD 2006 The role of collagen in bone strength. Osteoporos Int 17:319-336.
- VonTorklus D, Gehle W 1972 The upper cervical spine. Regional anatomy, pathology and traumatology, in Georg Thieme Verlag (ed): A Systemic Radiological Atlas and Textbook. New York: Grune&Stratton, pp.1-99.
- Vuorimies I, Toiviainen-Salo S, Hero M, Mäkitie O 2011 Zoledronic acid treatment in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Horm Res Paediatr 75:346-353.
- Waltimo J, Lukinmaa P-L 1997 Structure and patterns of dentin matrix in developmental dentin disorders. Journal d'Odonto-Stomatologie Pédiatrique 7:61-66.

- Waltimo-Sirén J, Kolkka M, Pynnönen S, Kuurila K, Kaitila I, Kovero O 2005 Craniofacial features in osteogenesis imperfecta: a cephalometric study. Am J Med Genet A. 133A:142-150.
- Waltimo-Sirén J 2011 Proceedings of 11th International congress on Osteogenesis imperfecta 2-5.10.2011 Dubrovnik, Croatia.
- Wang JC, Nuccion SL, Feighan JE, Cohen B, Dorey FJ, Scoles PV 2001 Growth and development of the pediatric cervical spine documented radiographically. J Bone Joint Surg 83A:1212-1218.
- Ward LM, Rauch F, Whyte MP, D'Astous J, Gates PE, Grogan D, Lester EL, McCall RE, Pressly TA, Sandlers JO, Smith PA, Steiner RD, Sullivan E, Tyerman G, Smith-Wright DL, Verbruggen N, Heyden N, Lombardi A, Gloriuex FH. 2011 Alendronate for the treatment of pediatric osteogenesis imperfecta: A randomized placebocontrolled study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:355-364.
- Willing MC, Deschenes SP, Slayton RL, Roberts EJ 1996 Premature chain termination is a unifying mechanism for COL1A1 null alleles in Osteogenesis imperfecta type I cell strains. Am J Hum Genet 59:799-809.
- Aström E, Söderhäll S 1998 Beneficial effect of bisphosphonate during five years of treatment of severe osteogenesis imperfecta. Acta Paediatr 87:64-68.

## 11. Original publications